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Financial Highlights
IBRE

Year ended Year ended
31 December 2008 31 December 2007
BE-ZZN\HF HE-ZZtHF

+=-A=+—HILEE +-A=1+—HIFE
HK$ MillionB &8 1t HKS$ MilionB &8 7T

Revenue B 10,127.8 10,426.8
Profit before tax* BRFR AT 2= A 1,294.3 2,054.8
Net profit attributable to P SR PEAG AL R
shareholders
— Underlying net profit* — ELIR AR 1,177.0 1,813.3
— Reported net profit —BREAEA 1,203.8 1,813.3
Basic earnings per share BRER
— Based on underlying net profit* — BRI FHE HK39.2 cents3&l HK60.4 centsi#E I
— Based on reported net profit — ABRME 4T FIFTE HK40.1 centsi& 1l HK60.4 centsi L
Full-year dividend per share BRE2FERE HK22.0 centsj& Al HK30.0 centsi# Il
— Interim dividend per share — AR EARL B HK12.0 centsjt HK10.0 centsi {1l
— Proposed final dividend per share  — 235 G AR R HIRL & HK10.0 centsj{l HK20.0 centsi (|l
Dividend payout ratio RE b= 55% 50%
Current ratio MBI ER 2.61 2.92
Net asset value per share BREERE HK$2.42# 7T HK$2.2578 T
Net gearing FEELER 12% 23%
Revenue Profit Attributable to Equity Holders
EER of the Company
BRTAERFE ABILER
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEBT
10,500 2,100
9,000 1,800
7,500 1,500
6,131 1,177"
6,000 1,200 1os7 1078
4,660
4,500 900
3,000 27 600
388
1,500 300
0 0
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
* Excluding the discount on acquisition of HK$26.8 million * TEERETE_T 8 /\T8%T
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Chairman’s Statement
FTEHRE

BUSINESS REVIEW

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am delighted to report to
our shareholders that Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited
(“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) delivered
resilient results for the financial year ended 31 December 2008
amid adverse business conditions in the second half of 2008.
The Group chalked up modest growth in both revenue and net
profit for the first half of 2008 on the back of stable business.
However, the sudden downturn in the world economy posted a
severe impact on the entire supply chain of the global technology
sector towards the end of 2008. The Group experienced a fall
in both revenue and net profit in the fourth quarter of 2008 (“Q4
2008”). In spite of this extremely tough operating environment,
the Group stayed profitable for the full year of 2008 and our
financial position remained robust. This clearly demonstrates that
our business model with a flexible and effective cost structure
has successfully buffered the Group against the cyclicality of the
electronics industry.

Revenue Breakdown by Product & 2545 #

R¥ O

RAAERKREFE  MARSLBIRER  BE—
ZTN\FTHFLBRESBHBE  BEEERE
BARRR([ARREMBAR(TEEDREE
“ETN\F+A=TBHIEFEAR - KARERE
REEE - —TTN\FLAF  BEBENEBKR
o REZ EXBRANEEREEMER - A
EREEE_TT/\FRURASETE  HE2K
METEBEHEREKEEITE  SE2EXER
RANME_ZZENFENEREMAL T o BRL
ERBIETERR  SEE_ZZN\F2ENAESE
BN BB ESRRE - KB —EETTAENEM
MR AZB G S 1 BBEEER - K
REBREEFTRNBRRBHROFGE -

21%

-—

26%

53%

20%

54%

FY2008 FY2007
—EE\FHERFE ZEFLFHRTFE
Glass Epoxy Laminates REFIBHEBINER
Paper Laminates HBINE IR
[l Others* Hh
* Others comprises upstream materials including copper foil, epoxy resin Hh 84 Do iRE - IREUE R IEF LIRS

and drilling services
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Chairman’s Statement EE#HE

PERFORMANCE

The electronics industry was impacted badly in Q4 2008 by
the snowball effect of the global credit crunch which affected
all business sectors. In anticipation of shrinking demand,
manufacturers in the electronics supply chain reacted by
scaling down production and slashing inventories aggressively
towards the year end. During the year under review, copper
price remained highly volatile and fell more than 50% in Q4
2008 against its peak in July 2008. Lower average selling prices
coupled with reduced shipments in Q4 2008 posed pressure on
the profit margin. As a result, consolidated revenue of the Group
declined 3% to HK$10,127.8 million. Underlying earnings before
interest and tax (“EBIT”) decreased 37% to HK$1,410.4 million
(excluding one-off non-cash exceptional item) over the previous
year. Volume sales dropped around 6% with average monthly
shipment reaching 7.2 million square meters. However, our
resilient performance clearly indicated that we have outperformed
our peers during this down cycle.

Distribution costs increased 5% as new production capacity
for upstream materials came on stream in the first half of 2008.
Administrative expenses increased marginally by 1% against that
of previous year. Finance costs decreased to HK$116.1 million
mainly attributable to lower interest rates on bank borrowings.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our consolidated financial and liquidity position continued to be
solid. As at 31 December 2008, net current assets and current
ratio of the Group were approximately HK$4,004.0 million (31
December 2007 — 4,538.7 million) and 2.61 (31 December
2007 — 2.92), respectively.

The net working capital cycle reduced to 113 days as at 31
December 2008 from 121 days as at 31 December 2007 on the
following key metrics:

- Inventories, in terms of stock turnover days, slightly
increased to 75 days (31 December 2007 — 72 days).
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Chairman’s Statement EEHE

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (continued)
Trade receivables including amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries, in terms of debtors turnover days, greatly
reduced to 70 days (31 December 2007 — 100 days), as
a result of decrease in sales revenue in Q4 2008.

- Trade and bills payables including amounts due to
fellow subsidiaries, in terms of creditors turnover days,
significantly decreased to 32 days (31 December 2007 —
51 days) in line with reduction in purchase volume.

The Group’s net gearing ratio (ratio of interest bearing
borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents to total equity)
was greatly reduced to 12% (31 December 2007 — 23%) as a
result of positive operating cash inflow and lower working capital
requirement. In 2008, the Group invested HK$1,076 million in
new production capacity and made deposits of HK$78 million
for properties, plant and equipment. The proportion of bank
borrowings between short term and long term stood at 34%:66%
(81 December 2007: 20%:80%). As at 31 December 2008, the
Group had committed and undrawn bank loan facilities and
cash on hand of HK$700 million and HK$2.2 billion respectively.
Hence, the Group is in a strong financial position to capitalise on
any opportunities arising from the current downturn. Less than 1%
of the bank borrowings was denominated in Renminbi and the
rest in Hong Kong or US dollars.

The Group continued to adopt a prudent financial management
policy including the use of interest rate swap contract to minimise
its exposure to fluctuation in interest rates movement. At the
end of 2008, we had entered into interest rate swap agreements
of notional amount of HK$2.0 billion with reputable financial
institutions for a weighted average duration of 1.4 years and
interest rate of 2.78%. The Group also entered into commodity
and foreign currency forward contracts to manage the Group’s
exposure to fluctuation in exchange rates and commodities
prices. The fair value of these contracts amounted to HK$2.8
million as at 31 December 2008. Other than derivative financial
instruments in connection with our daily operations as mentioned
above, the Group had not entered into any other type of
derivative financial instruments throughout 2008. There was no
material foreign exchange exposure to the Group during the year
under review. The Group’s revenue, mostly denominated in Hong
Kong dollars, Renminbi and US dollars, was fairly matched with
the currency requirement of operating expenses.

l)lbiﬁﬁﬁ&ﬂ#ﬁﬂfiﬂﬁ"‘
HRZZEE )\i%@—?—Z%%W)\ﬂi :
B REWFE(EReERaRRMNBEA
ZE%%H&%E)?@@%K@%@%tﬂLEI
(ZBZ+F+=ZA=+—RH:—@R[)-
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B(EFRERARRZMNBAR B S ER
R ESPREFEE=+=-8(=
tF+-—A=t—H:A+—H)-
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IREFIF IR FE DRI B1.4F K%2.78% © K E
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Chairman’s Statement EE#HE

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had a workforce of over
8,000 (31 December 2007: 8,600). The decrease in headcount
was in line with reduction in manufacturing output in Q4 2008. In
addition to offering competitive salary package, the Group grants
discretionary bonuses to eligible employees based on our overall
financial achievement and their individual performance.

PROSPECTS

Although the global electronics industry faces significant
challenges in 2009, our business outlook remains positive in
the long term. As a key manufacturer for laminate products in
China, we shall benefit from the enormous growth potential of
this emerging market. A series of economic stimulus measures
introduced by the Chinese government recently, in particular,
the subsidy policy for electronic products purchase in the rural
area is likely to have a positive effect on the growth prospects for
the Group. Given our robust balance sheet, strategic focus on
producing mass demand laminates and dedicated management
team with excellent track record, we believe that the Group will
surmount current challenges and emerge from this downturn as
an even stronger player.

The Group experienced an uptrend in demand in February 2009.
As a result, all laminate plants operated at higher utilisation rates
in February 2009 as compared to January 2009. In addition,
reduced raw material costs in Q1 2009 is expected to ease
margin pressure as compared to that experienced in Q4 2008.

Shrinking end customer demand together with intense
competition will drive weaker players to cut production capacities
or exit the market altogether. Further industrial consolidation is
expected in the next few quarters. With our unrivaled position
in the laminate industry, the Group is well poised to benefit
from the consolidation. Whilst we have no imminent intention to
expand capacity, we will continue to invest in high end laminate
production capabilities, including thin and high performance
laminate, to further enhance our competitive advantage.
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Chairman’s Statement EEHE

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express my sincere gratitude to our shareholders, customers,
banks, the management and employees for their unreserved
support to the Group in the past financial year.

Cheung Kwok Wa
Chairman
Hong Kong, 27 March 2009
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies

EENGREEAEZER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Wa, aged 45, is an executive Director and
the Chairman of the Company. He is a brother of Mr. Cheung
Kwok Keung and Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping, both being executive
Directors and an uncle of Mr. Cheung Ka Ho, an executive
Director. Mr. Cheung joined Kingboard Chemical Holdings
Limited (“KCHL”) in 1988 and has over 20 years’ experience
in the marketing of a wide range of industrial products. He is
responsible for the overall strategic planning of the Group and
sets the general direction and goals for the Group. Mr. Cheung
was appointed as an executive Director in July 2006.

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Keung, aged 56, is an executive Director
and the Managing Director of the Company. He is a brother
of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa and Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping, both
being executive Directors, and an uncle of Mr. Cheung Ka Ho,
an executive Director. Mr. Cheung joined KCHL in 1991 and
has over 17 years’ experience in the laminate industry. He is
responsible for the overall implementation of the strategic plans
and goals of the Group. Mr. Cheung was appointed as an
executive Director in July 2006.

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ping, aged 48, is an executive Director.
He is a brother of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa and Mr. Cheung
Kwok Keung, both being executive Directors, and an uncle of
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho, an executive Director. Mr. Cheung joined
KCHL in 1988 and has over 20 years’ experience in marketing.
He is mainly responsible for the Group’s marketing operations
and is also the general manager of the paper laminate factories
in Fogang and Shaoguan, the PRC. Mr. Cheung is also an
executive director of Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Limited
(“KBCF”), a 63.66%-owned subsidiary of the Company as at the
balance sheet date and whose shares are listed on the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX”). Mr. Cheung was
appointed as an executive Director in May 2006.

Mr. LAM Ka Po, aged 52, is an executive Director. Mr. Lam is a
co-founder of KCHL and has over 20 years’ experience in the
sales and distribution of laminates. Mr. Lam is also an executive
director of KBCF. He was appointed as an executive Director in
November 2006.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies EE N SR EEA S 2 EF

Mr. CHEUNG Ka Ho, aged 25, is an executive Director. Mr.
Cheung is the nephew of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung
Kwok Keung and Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping, all being executive
Directors. Mr. Cheung joined KCHL in 2004 and is involved in the
laminate marketing operations for the southern region of China.
He was appointed as an executive Director in July 2006.

Ms. CHAN Sau Chi, aged 34, is an executive Director. Ms. Chan
holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in Statistics from Carleton University,
Canada. Prior to joining KCHL in 1999, she was an executive in
a financial public relations firm. Ms. Chan is responsible for the
Group’s purchase of laminate-related raw materials. She was
appointed as an executive Director in May 2006.

Mr. LIU Min, aged 40, is an executive Director. He joined KCHL
in 1998 and is the general manager of the copper foil factories in
Fogang and Lianzhou, the PRC. Mr. Liu graduated from Harbin
University with a Bachelor’s Degree in Chemical Engineering.
Prior to joining KCHL, he had over 7 years’ experience in the
copper foil industry. He was appointed as an executive Director
in November 2006.

Mr. ZHOU Pei Feng, aged 40, is an executive Director. He joined
KCHL in 1999 and is the general manager of four glass epoxy
laminate facilities in Shenzhen, Fogang, Jiangmen and Jiangyin,
the PRC. Mr. Zhou holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Mechanical
Engineering from the Chongqging University and a Master’s
Degree in Material Processing Engineering from Jilin Industrial
University (now known as Jilin University). He was appointed as
an executive Director in November 2006.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. LO Ka Leong, aged 35, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Lo
is also a member of the audit committee of the Company. He
holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in Professional Accountancy from
The Chinese University of Hong Kong and is a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lo
joined KCHL in May 1999 and is in charge of KCHL's company
secretarial work and financial management. Prior to joining
KCHL, he was an accountant at an international accounting firm.
Mr. Lo was appointed as a non-executive Director in July 2006.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies EE N SR EEAE 2 EF

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. CHAN Charnwut Bernard, aged 44, joined as an independent
non-executive Director in November 2006. Mr. Chan is also the
chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company, and a
member of the audit committee and the nomination committee
of the Company. Mr. Chan is a Deputy to National People’s
Congress of the People’s Republic of China. Mr. Chan is a
graduate of Pomona College in California, the United States.
He holds the positions of President and executive director of
Asia Financial Holdings Limited, a company listed on the main
board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), and Asia Insurance Company Limited. Mr. Chan also
serves as the advisor of Bangkok Bank Public Company Ltd.,
Hong Kong Branch, the chairman of the Hong Kong-Thailand
Business Council and the chairperson of The Hong Kong Council
of Social Service. Mr. Chan also serves as director on the boards
of several companies listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange, namely City e-Solutions Limited (non-executive), New
Heritage Holdings Limited (non-executive), Chen Hsong Holdings
Limited (independent non-executive), China Resources Enterprise
Limited (independent non-executive) and Yau Lee Holdings
Limited (independent non-executive).

Mr. CHAN Yue Kwong, Michael, aged 57, joined as an
independent non-executive Director in November 2006. Mr.
Chan is also the chairman of the nomination committee of
the Company, and a member of the audit committee and
remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Chan is the
chairman and an executive director of Cafe de Coral Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Chan is also an independent non-executive
director of Starlite Holdings Limited since 1993 and Pacific
Textiles Holdings Limited since 2007, and a non-executive
director of Tao Heung Holdings Limited since 2007, all three
companies are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Chan formerly was a professional city planner with various
government bodies in Hong Kong and Canada. He obtained a
Bachelor’s degree in Arts and a Master’s degree in City Planning
from the University of Manitoba, Canada. Mr. Chan serves on
the executive committee of the Hong Kong Retail Management
Association, and acts as the council member of the Employers’
Federation of Hong Kong, the elected member of the Quality
Tourism Services Association and serves as the board member
of the Hong Kong Tourism Board.
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Mr. LEUNG Tai Chiu, aged 62, joined as an independent
non-executive Director in November 2006. Mr. Leung is also the
chairman of the audit committee of the Company, and a member
of the remuneration committee and nomination committee of the
Company. Mr. Leung graduated from the Hong Kong University in
1969. He is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales. He has broad experience in accounting
and auditing matters, having worked in the auditing profession
for over 30 years, 20 years of which he served as a partner. Mr.
Leung retired from PricewaterhouseCoopers in 2005. Mr. Leung
was the President of Lions Club of Victoria in 1986 and 1998 and
a director of Yan Oi Tong from 1995 to 1997. He is a member of
The Hong Kong Institute of Directors and is an independent non-
executive director of Eva Precision Industrial Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. MOK Yiu Keung, Peter, aged 57, joined as an independent
non-executive Director in November 2006. Mr. Mok is also a
member of the audit committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Mok is the chairman
of Biu Chun Watch Hands & Parts Manufacturers Limited and
has over 30 years of experience in the manufacturing industry.
Mr. Mok pursued a Master’s degree at Yanshan University
in 2003. He served as the Vice Chairman of the Watch Parts
& Equipment Exhibition in 1997 and the Chairman in 1998
and 1999. He was the Vice President and later the Executive
Vice President of the Professional Validation Council of Hong
Kong Industries from 1999 to 2001 and from 2001 to 2003,
respectively. Mr. Mok joined the Hong Kong St. John Ambulance
in 1998 as the Regional president of the General Management
Section. Mr. Mok is currently the vice chairman of the China
Horologe Association, the Honorary vice President of Shenzhen
Watch & Clock Association and the President of the Hong Kong
Rangers Football Club.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHANG Guo Qiang, age 41, joined KCHL in 2002 and is
the general manager of the glass fabric factories in Shenzhen
and Lianzhou, the PRC. Mr. Chang graduated from Hunan
Chang Sha University with a Bachelor’s Degree in Textiles. Prior
to joining KCHL, he had over 13 years’ experience in the glass
fabric industry.

Mr. HU Guo Liang, age 52, joined KCHL in 2000 and is the
general manager of the glass yarn factory in Panyu Nansha,
the PRC. Mr. Hu graduated from the East China University of
Science and Technology with a Bachelor’s Degree in Material
Science Engineering. Prior to joining KCHL, he had over 18
years’ experience in the glass yarn industry.

Mr. TSOI Kin Lung, aged 33, joined KCHL in November 2003.
Prior to that, he was an accountant at an international accounting
firm. Mr. Tsoi is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree
in Business Administration from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong. He is in charge of the company secretarial work and
financial management of the Group.
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Directors’ Report
EEEWE

The directors are pleased to present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2008.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year are set out in the
consolidated income statement on page 47.

An interim dividend of HK12 cents per share was paid to the
shareholders of the Company during the year. The directors
now recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK10 cents
per share to the shareholders on the register of members of the
Company on 21 May 2009, and the retention of the remaining
profit in the Company.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements during the year in the issued share
capital of the Company are set out in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

During the year, there was no purchase, sale or redemption by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries of the Company’s listed
securities.
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RESERVES

Details of the movements during the year in the reserves of the
Group are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 50.

In addition to the retained profits of the Company, the share
premium and special reserve of the Company are also available
for distribution to shareholders provided that the Company will
be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course
of business immediately following the date on which any such
distribution is proposed to be paid.

At 31 December 2008, the sum of the retained profits, the share
premium and the special reserve of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$6,524,469,000.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group’s investment properties were revalued as at
31 December 2008, resulting in an increase in fair value of
approximately HK$1,468,000 which has been credited to the
consolidated income statement.

PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Expenditure of approximately HK$1,075,667,000 was incurred
during the year primarily to expand the production capacity of the
Group. Details of all the changes during the year are set out in
note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31
December 2008 are set out in note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DONATIONS
During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
totalling approximately HK$15,545,000.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) during the year and
up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman)

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director)
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping

Mr. Lam Ka Po

Mr. Cheung Ka Ho

Ms. Chan Sau Chi

Mr. Liu Min

Mr. Zhou Pei Feng

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Lo Ka Leong

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chan Charnwut Bernard

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael

Mr. Leung Tai Chiu

Mr. Mok Yiu Keung, Peter

In accordance with Article 130 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Messrs. Cheung Kwok Wa, Chan Sau Chi and Liu
Min, being executive Directors and Messrs. Chan Yue Kwong,
Michael and Leung Tai Chiu, being independent non-executive
Directors, will retire from directorship by rotation and will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

Each of the executive Directors had entered into a service
contract with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from 5 November 2006. Each service contract will
continue thereafter until terminated by not less than one month’s
notice in writing served by either party to the other.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS (continued)

The non-executive Director and each of the independent non-
executive Directors had been appointed for an initial term of
two years commencing in November 2006. In addition, the
appointment of the non-executive Director will continue after
the initial term unless terminated by three months’ notice in
writing served by either party to the other. The appointment
of the independent non-executive Directors will continue after
the initial term unless otherwise agreed between the parties. All
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with
the Company’s Articles of Association and the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Listing Rules”).

Biographical details of the above Directors are set out in
the section headed “Directors’ and Senior Management’s
Biographies” on pages 10 to 14.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company has a service contract which is
not terminable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2008, the interests of the Directors and their
associates in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)), as
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, were as follows:

EEZRiHER
RZBBNF+ZA=+—H EFREEIHE
ARAR DR R H AR EE (E & R E 5 NS D)
(IEF NG 1) EXVER) 2 Bty - BRI X
BrEH - BEARBRERES RS EDIE352(F
FEZERMATREE - RE EMBEITAE
FRTEFRXZHNRETAD MEARF R E B
BRPMARRR([BRPT]) 2 #EmmT :

Note:  These Shares were held by his spouse.

MiaE:  ZEBROBEESES -
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Long position A
@) Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company  (a) KR E]FREEO10E T2 ZHEE (R
(“Shares”) )

Approximate

percentage of

the issued

share capital

Number of of the Company

issued Shares NN |

Name of Director Capacity held BRITRA

EEpA EmtE e #TRHHE ZBHBE DL

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa Beneficial owner 1,539,500 0.051
SREIZESE A BEHEEAA

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner 801,500 0.027
SR B 58 5T A4 EmaAA

Mr. Cheung Ka Ho Beneficial owner 89,000 0.003
RRFAE BmEAA

Ms. Chan Sau Chi Beneficial owner 60,000 0.002
BRFZ/ A BHEEAA

Mr. Lo Ka Leong Beneficial owner 100,000 0.003
BRI E EmEa A

Mr. Mok Yiu Keung, Peter (Note) Beneficial owner 150,000 0.005
Ri@og A (Fiet) BmEAA
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (continued)

Long position (continued)

(b) Non-voting deferred shares of HK$1 each of Kingboard
Laminates Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the

Company

EEZRiNER2)
REHE)

®)

KAA2EHE 2N EL TREEERE
RARGREME T2 BREBELRG

Number of non-voting
deferred shares held

Name of Director Capacity iR ERIRT

EEpA EmtE R EE
(Note 1)
(B¥EE1)

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa Beneficial owner 1,058,000

SREIZE ST A EmlEA

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner 529,000

SR El58 5L 4 BEREAA

Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping Beneficial owner 952,200

SREIF A BB A

Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner 581,900

MRERAE EmlEA

(c) Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of Kingboard Chemical
Holdings Limited (“KCHL”), the ultimate holding company

of the Company

©

AR AIREFER I Al TR B ([ 2)F

1ET ) ZREEO. 108702 ZiEK

Approximate
percentage of

the issued

Number of share capital

issued ordinary of KCHL

shares held LT

Name of Director Capacity e 1T EETRA

EEgE ERME ZRRROEE ZHBHBEDL

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa Beneficial owner 1,536,900 0.183
SREUEE ST A EREAA

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner 1,138,852 0.136
SR El58 554 BB A

Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping Beneficial owner 2,093,653 0.249
SR B A BE=EBA

Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner 1,214,734 0.145
MRERE EREAA

Mr. Cheung Ka Ho Beneficial owner 50,000 0.006
RRFITE BB A

Ms. Chan Sau Chi Beneficial owner 10,000 0.001
PR £/ A BE=EBA
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (continued) ERZEinER 2

Long position (continued)
(d) Share options of KCHL

RE(E)
@  BEIELZETERE

Interest in underlying

shares of KCHL

pursuant to share options

Name of Director Capacity BrRBREET

EENE REstE R THMR R

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa Beneficial owner 1,623,600
REIESRE EnEAA

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner 1,874,600
SRER S BHEEAA

Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping Beneficial owner 1,678,600
SREF Rt BEHBEAA

Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner 1,874,600
MERE L EnEAA

(e) Ordinary shares ("EEIC Shares”) in Elec & Eltek (g KA G JE B BB Gl Fl| ZiE E AR A

International Company Limited (“EEIC”), a fellow ([EEIC])Z Z&Ef% ([EEICHR %))

subsidiary of the Company

Approximate

percentage

of the issued

Number of share capital

issued EEIC of EEIC

Shares held {5EEIC

Name of Director Capacity Fris 2 2 4TEEIC BEITRA
EEpA EmtE ROEE ZBNEDL
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa Beneficial owner 281,400 0.16

SREIFE ST A

BEmBBA
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (continued)
Long position (continued)

®

22

ESEZROER 2
RAE)

Share options of EEIC ] EEICZ (B5E 1

Interest in underlying

EEIC Shares pursuant

to share options

Name of Director Capacity ELBEBREET

EERE REmtE 1EBAEEICHR 17 fE 2

(Note 2)

(M¥x2)

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa Beneficial owner 973,200
SREIZE S A BEREAA

Notes: Bt & -

1. None of the non-voting deferred shares of Kingboard Laminates 1. REEREFERERERERARZEIRE
Limited are held by the Group. Such deferred shares carry no RERIEAR D o ;& RAEAR (0 I 2 T 75 m] U ER G2
rights to receive notice of or to attend or vote at any general EIEERAR A AERREAE A HER
meeting of Kingboard Laminates Limited and have practically no RAGRRE EREZEF - INRERERE
rights to dividends or to participate in any distribution on winding PR E RS A D IR 2 BERER -
up.

2. The interests were by virtue of an aggregate of 811,000 share 2. RERBRENR—REFHR_ZTZTRFRA

options of EEIC accepted by the Director on 24 June 2005. The
number of share options were subsequently adjusted pursuant
to the 1 for 5 bonus issue by EEIC effected on 13 October 2005.
The relevant Director is entitled to subscribe for EEIC Shares at
an adjusted subscription price of US$2.033 per EEIC Share. The
share options are exercisable in whole or in part at a staggered
manner within 5 option periods, commencing on 26 November
2006, 26 November 2007, 26 November 2008, 26 November
2009 and 26 March 2010 respectively and all ending on 24 May
2010.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors

nor their respective associates had any interests or short

positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures

of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as at 31
December 2008.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed above, at no time during the year was
the Company, its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

SHARE OPTIONS

Particulars of the share option scheme of the Company are set
out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year, no share option was granted pursuant to the
scheme and no share option was outstanding as at 31 December
2008.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance, to which the Company, its holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries was a party and in
which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

MERNKRGFZRH

B EXCRERSN - ANE] - BRI RSB AL AT
AR R A MY A R A B R 2 ERT L
ERREE - BULEEAEBARR R SEREME
AERBZ B ESmEE

B 5chRazE
ARAR 2 BRBAE B2 FEHNGARBRE
i3S -

FA - ARARBEREZIEREELERE  ©
“EEN\FTA=T—RB  BERTEZELE
et o

EFECEXENHER
ARE  HERAT - ARHE R TSR A

BAT AR F R A RFE N EAIR AL
ARPEFERSHERABEARGZIEREH °
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2008, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO
shows that, other than the interests disclosed above in respect
of certain Directors, the following shareholders had notified the
Company of their relevant interests in the issued share capital of

FERR

RIBZNF+ZA=+—R0  REARAEES
KB GBIFE336IFAFE 2 TERRERLMATT
% THOIBRR(EXFERES TESZ#SRINE
MEARBRERARF S HETRA 2 AR -

the Company.

RE
K2 FJFARENEO. 10;87T.2 AR (TR ))

Long position
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the Company (“Shares”)

Approximate
percentage of
the issued share
capital of the

Company
Number of LA T
Name of shareholder Notes Nature of interest issued Shares held BRTRAZ
BRREH Br EEME e BRTROBE BOE DL
Hallgain Management Limited (‘Hallgain®)  (a) Beneficial owner 1,500,000 0.05
ERBEAA
(b) Interest of controlled 2,243,050,500 7477
corporations
EEthiERR
KCHL Beneficial owner 13,383,000 0.45
BEtT ERBEAA
() Interest of controlled 2,229,667,500 74.32
corporations
EEthiERR
Jamplan (BVI) Limited (“Jamplan”) Beneficial owner 2,175,000,000 72.50
EREAA
(d) Interest of a controlled 54,667,500 1.82

24 “ET)\FFR BERERERERAE
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)
Long position (continued)
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the Company (“Shares”)

(continued)
Notes:
(@) At 31 December 2008, (i) no shareholder of Hallgain was entitled to

exercise, or control the exercise of, directly or indirectly, one-third or more
of the voting power at general meetings of Hallgain, and Hallgain and its
directors are not accustomed to act in accordance with any shareholder’s
direction; and (i) Messrs. Cheung Kwok Wa, Cheung Kwok Ping and Lam
Ka Po, being Directors, are also directors of Hallgain.

(b) The interests are held by KCHL directly and indirectly. KCHL is owned as
to approximately 30.97% of the entire issued capital of KCHL by Hallgain as
at 31 December 2008.

(@] The interests are held by Jamplan directly and indirectly. Jamplan is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of KCHL. Mr. Lam Ka Po, being a Director, is
also a director of Jamplan.

(d) The interests are indirectly held by Jamplan through its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Kingboard Investments Limited (“KIL”). Messrs. Cheung Kwok
Wa and Cheung Kwok Ping, being Directors, are also directors of KIL.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company had not been
notified of any other relevant interests or short positions in the
issued share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2008.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with
the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) as
set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules throughout the year
ended 31 December 2008, save for the deviation that the non-
executive Director and independent non-executive Directors were
not appointed for specific terms pursuant to code provision A.4.1
of the Code. Notwithstanding the aforesaid deviation, all the
Directors (including the non-executive Director and independent
non-executive Directors) are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the Company’s annual general meeting in
compliance with the Company’s Articles of Association. As such,
the Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken
to ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices
are no less exacting than those in the Code.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting
than the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the
“Model Code”). Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all
Directors have confirmed they have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code and the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by Directors adopted by the
Company throughout the year ended 2008.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent for the purposes of Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the Group’s largest customer was KCHL's
subsidiaries other than the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“KCHL Group”), and the percentage of sales attributable to the
KCHL Group was 21%. The percentage of sales attributable to
the Group’s five largest customers combined was less than 30%
of the Group’s total revenue. During the year, the percentage of
purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier and the
five largest suppliers combined were 20% and 56% respectively.

At 31 December 2008, KCHL, a shareholder holding more than
5% of the Company’s share capital, had a beneficial interest in
one of the Group’s five largest customers. Save as disclosed
above, none of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5%
of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major
customers or suppliers noted above.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group had the following connected transactions with its
connected persons during the year:

(@ The Group purchased chemicals and drill bits from
the KCHL Group amounting to approximately
HK$260,438,000 and HK$15,849,000, respectively.

(b) The Group sold laminates and related upstream
component materials to the KCHL Group amounting to
approximately HK$1,144,451,000 and HK$922,242,000
respectively.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

In addition, the Group also provided drilling services to the KCHL
Group amounting to approximately HK$235,748,000 during the
year.

KCHL is the Company’s ultimate holding company. As such,
the KCHL Group is deemed to be connected persons of the
Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Directors have engaged the auditor of the Company to
perform certain agreed upon procedures in respect of the
continuing connected transactions of the Group. The auditor
of the Company has reported its factual findings on these
procedures to the board of Directors. The independent non-
executive Directors, for the purpose of Rule 14A.37 of the
Listing Rules, have reviewed the continuing connected
transactions and the report of the auditor and have confirmed
that the aforesaid continuing connected transactions have been
entered by the Group in the ordinary course of its business, on
normal commercial terms, and in accordance with the terms
of the agreements governing such transactions that are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.

The purchase of chemicals and drill bits from the KCHL Group
during the year did not exceed the aggregate annual cap for
the financial year ended 31 December 2008 approved by the
shareholders of the Company of HK$280,000,000, while the
sale of laminates and related upstream component materials and
provision of driling services to the KCHL Group during the year
did not exceed the aggregate annual caps for the financial year
ended 31 December 2008 of HK$3,834,000,000.

EMOLUMENT POLICY
The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.
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The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the
Remuneration Committee having regard to the relevant Director’s
experience, responsibility and the time devoted to the business
of the Group.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an
incentive to Directors and eligible employees. During the year
ended 31 December 2008, no share option was granted
pursuant to the Scheme.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles of Association although there are no
restrictions against such rights under company laws in the
Cayman Islands.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout
the year ended 31 December 2008.

AUDITOR

A resolution to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
as auditor of the Company will be proposed for approval by
shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Cheung Kwok Wa
CHAIRMAN

27 March 2009
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of Kingboard Laminates
Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries,
the “Group”) recognises the importance of corporate governance
practice of a listed company. It is in the interest of the
stakeholders and shareholders for a listed company to operate
in a transparent manner with the adoptions of various self-
regulatory policies, procedures and monitoring mechanisms and
a clear definition of accountability of directors and management.

During the year under review, the Board has complied with the
provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
(the “Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) except with a deviation from code
provision A.4.1 of the Code. Under code provision A.4.1 of the
Code, non-executive directors should be appointed for a specific
term, subject to re-election. Currently, the non-executive director
and the independent non-executive directors of the Company
were not appointed for specific terms but are subject to
retirement by rotation and are eligible for re-election. In addition
to the Code, which is mandatory in nature, the Board also
observes certain recommended best practices (“Recommended
Best Practices”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
and has adopted certain Recommended Best Practices which
are suitable to the Company’s current situation. The Board will
continuously enhance the corporate governance standard of the
Company by reference to the Recommended Best Practices
whenever suitable and appropriate.

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting than
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model
Code”). Having made specific enquiry of all directors, all directors
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard
set out in the Model Code and the code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions adopted by the Company.
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DIRECTORS

The Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control
of the Group and is entrusted with the responsibility
to supervise the management of the business and the
affairs of the Group. The Group has adopted internal
guidelines in setting forth matters that require the Board’s
approval. Apart from its statutory responsibilities, the
Board approves the Group’s strategic plan, annual
budget, key operational initiatives, major investments and
funding decisions. It also reviews the Group’s financial
performance, identifies principal risks of the Group’s
business and ensures implementation of appropriate
systems to manage these risks. Daily business operations
and administrative functions of the Group are delegated
to the management.

The Board meets regularly and as warranted by particular
circumstances. Notices and agendas are prepared by
the Company Secretary as delegated by the Chairman
of the Board and distributed to the Board members
within reasonable time before the meetings. Relevant
meeting papers are also sent to directors well before
the meetings, informing them of the background and
giving explanation on matters to be brought before the
Board. All directors are given the opportunity to include
matters in the agendas for Board meetings. To ensure the
directors make decisions objectively and in the interests
of the Company, the Company’s articles of association
provide that any director shall abstain from voting on any
resolutions in which he or his associates is/are materially
interested nor be counted in the quorum of the meeting.
Draft and final versions of the minutes of Board meetings
are sent to all directors for their comment and records
respectively within a reasonable time after the board
meeting and are kept by the Company Secretary.

Anmua\ Report 2008 Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited
ST \FEHR BERERERERAE

EF

BExg

EEFGHERERERAEE - AR
BEBASEECEBREBEREH - K
EEERANTIESIFTARLEESTGIE
ZBIE - BRATEMI c EFENAER
HAREEZRBE - FEEE - TEZ
B EAREAREERTE - EFER
REMAEENBRE - BRINEEER
ZEERBREBERERBEEREBUNEREE
R - NEE A S EREERTHBA
ZBECERTEREESE -

EXEeEHMREERAMERHETE
& e ”Fﬁ%%A’S%@%&aﬁiﬁa§$@
IERRAAWERERBELNSHEANA
BRENRE TEEEKRE - HEGHEX
HRENFENBEREARES  SREE
HMBREEFGZFHZER AR N
Bl ZREFAREFTEEZARLMA
FHRRHT® - RRREFEFLTER
HARRANEZRE AR ZEBE
BRANRE  HEFEFZLEMRESR
BREESEBBANEA#D  AHE
FUENERE - BTEHAREIETA
- BETRHACHNBEREERER
BTEFERRAERHAEXT 2R
B ohlfERESR MR ZM - AH
RRMEFE -



Corporate Governance Report {t3¥E 78R E

During the year under review, the Board had held 4 REBEFEAN  EFGHRTTHRAEH
meetings and the directors’ attendance at Board meetings EERNEFEERNEFEERER2H
and Board committees’ meetings were as follows: s

Audit Nomination Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Committee

Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
- ERZEE REZES FMzEE
=f = 2% =
Number of Meeting e G 4 3 1 1
Executive directors HITEE
Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman) REE(EE) 4 - - -
Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director) 3k B5 (& = 484532 ) 4 - - -
Cheung Kwok Ping REIE 4 - - -
Lam Ka Po WRE 4 - - -
Cheung Ka Ho RER5F 4 - - -
Chan Sau Chi RELE 4 - - -
Liu Min 2/ 4 - - -
Zhou Pei Feng AiEE 4 - - -
Non-executive director HEITEE
Lo Ka Leong ER= 4 3 1 1
Independent non-executive directors BUIRTEE
Chan Charmnwut Bernard BREE 4 3 1 1
Chan Yue Kwong, Michael R 4 3 1 1
Leung Tai Chiu P 4 3 1 1
Mok Yiu Keung, Peter B 4 3 1 1
The directors have observed the importance of directing EEPARE AT EHEEREEARNA
and supervising the Company’s affair at a more regular EHCEEMN  KHRAZEBESER B
interval. After consulting all directors, Board meetings BSHEREFEEGRETERTER
have been preliminarily scheduled to be held at quarterly REFRITNVRIMRGE

interval and no less than 4 times in the coming year.
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Division and responsibilities

The Board of the Company is headed by the Chairman
whose role differs from that of the Managing Director of
the Company. The roles of the Chairman and Managing
Director are segregated and are not exercised by the
same individual.

The duties of the Chairman include (but not limited to) the
following:

o schedule meetings that enable the Board to
perform its duties and responsibilities and
to ensure all key and appropriate issues are
discussed by the Board in a timely manner without
interfering the Company’s operations;

° prepare meeting agenda after consultation with
the Managing Director;

o exercise control over quality, quantity and
timeliness of the flow of information between
Management and the Board and to ensure
decisions are made on a fully informed basis by
the directors; and

o assist in ensuring compliance with the Listing
Rules and the Company’s guidelines on corporate
governance.

The Managing Director is mainly responsible for the
overall strategic planning and day-to-day management of
the Group.
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The Board currently comprises thirteen members, four
of whom are independent non-executive directors who
are expressly identified in all corporate communications
that disclose the names of directors of the Company.
At least one of the independent non-executive directors
possesses appropriate professional qualifications (or
accounting or related financial management expertise)
as required by the Listing Rules. The composition of the
Board is as follows:

Executive directors

Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman)

Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director)
Cheung Kwok Ping

Lam Ka Po

Cheung Ka Ho

Chan Sau Chi

Liu Min

Zhou Pei Feng

Non-executive director
Lo Ka Leong

Independent non-executive directors
Chan Charnwut Bernard

Chan Yue Kwong, Michael

Leung Tai Chiu

Mok Yiu Keung, Peter

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung and Mr.
Cheung Kwok Ping are brothers and are uncles of Mr.
Cheung Ka Ho.

Each of the non-executive directors (including the
independent non-executive directors) was appointed for
an initial term of two years commencing in November
2006. The appointment of each of the non-executive
directors will continue after initial term unless terminated
by three months’ notice in writing served by either party
to the other. Currently, the non-executive director and the
independent non-executive directors were not appointed
for specific terms but are subject to retirement by rotation
and are eligible for re-election. The Board considers that
although such arrangement deviates from code provision
A.4.1 of the Code, sufficient measures have been taken
to ensure that the Company’s corporate governance
practices are no less exacting than those in the Code.
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The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive directors an annual confirmation of his
independence as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

The Board comprises directors who collectively provide
core competencies, sales and marketing experience
and technical knowledge in laminates and its upstream
component materials, administration and management
experience in the PRC factories, financial and accounting
skill, as well as in-house advice to comply with
international laws and regulations. The current Board size
of thirteen directors with a balance of skills and experience
is appropriate for effective decision making, taking into
account the nature and scope of the operations of the
Company.

Appointment, re-election and removal

The Company’s articles of association set out a
formal, considered and transparent procedure for the
appointment of new directors to the Board. Any director
appointed by the Board either to fill a casual vacancy or
as addition to the Board shall retire and be eligible for re-
appointment at the next following general meeting after
appointment. The appointment of directors are fixed for
a specified term, but at every annual general meeting
one-third of the directors, including the Chairman, shall
be subject to retirement by rotation and re-election by
shareholders. The directors appointed by the Board who
are subject to retirement and re-election as mentioned
above shall be taken into account in calculating the total
number of directors for the time being but shall not be
taken into account in calculating the number of directors
who are to retire by rotation. All directors eligible for
re-election shall have their biographical details made
available to the shareholders to enable them to make an
informed decision on their re-election. Any appointment,
resignation, removal or re-designation of director shall be
timely disclosed to the shareholders by announcement
and shall include in such announcement, the reasons
given by the director for his resignation.
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Responsibilities of Directors

The Company and the Board require each director to
keep abreast of his responsibilities as a director of the
Company and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company. Every director is required
to devote sufficient time and involvement in the affairs
of the Board and the material matters of the Company
and to serve the Board with such degree of care and
due diligence given his own expertise, qualification and
professionalism.

Every newly appointed director shall receive a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on the
first occasion of his appointment. All directors shall
be updated and briefed on continuing professional
development as is necessary to ensure that they have a
proper understanding of the operations and the business
of the Company and that they are fully aware of their
responsibilities under the applicable laws and regulations.
The Board has a procedure for directors, either individually
or as a group, in the furtherance of their duties, to take
independent professional advice, if necessary, at the
Company’s expenses to enable and facilitate the directors
to make well considered decisions. Appropriate insurance
coverage for directors’ and officers’ liability has been
arranged against possibility of legal action to be taken
against the directors and the management.

Supply of and access to information

The management of the Company has an obligation
to furnish the Board with complete, adequate and
appropriate information in such form and such quality in a
timely manner so as to enable them to make an informed
decision and to discharge their duties and responsibilities
as directors of the Company. All the directors are given
separate and independent access to the Company’s
senior management.

All the directors are given separate and independent
access to the Company Secretary, whose role includes
ensuring that Board procedures are observed and
followed, and that applicable rules and regulations are
complied with. The Company Secretary attends all the
meetings of the Board and Board committees and is
responsible for drafting minutes and keeping minutes
records which can be accessed by any director for
inspection.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure
The Board has set up a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) which comprises four
independent non-executive directors, namely Mr.
Chan Charnwut Bernard (Chairman), Mr. Chan Yue
Kwong, Michael, Mr. Leung Tai Chiu and Mr. Mok Yiu
Keung, Peter, to formulate policies and procedures for
determining the remuneration of directors and senior
management and other remuneration related matters.
The Remuneration Committee is set up with written
terms of reference which set out clearly its duties and
authorities delegated by the Board of directors, including
the following specific duties:

o formulate the framework or Board policy for
determining the remuneration of the Company’s
Board and senior management. The objective
of such policy should ensure that members of
the senior management of the Company are
provided with appropriate incentives to encourage
enhanced performance and are, in a fair and
reasonable manner, rewarded for their individual
contributions to the success of the Company;

° recommend specific remuneration packages
including, where appropriate, allowances,
bonuses, benefits in kind, incentive payments,
and share options, if any, for each executive
director and the Managing Director and such
other members of senior management as it is
designated to consider;

o recommend targets for any performance-linked
pay schemes operated by the Company, taking
into account remuneration and employment
conditions within the industry and in comparable
companies; and

o recommend to the Board the remuneration of non-
executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) taking into account factors
such as effort, time spent and responsibilities.
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When recommending the remuneration package for each
individual director, the Remuneration Committee will
consider his qualification and experience, specific duties
and responsibilities assigned to him by the Board and the
prevailing market packages available for similar position.
The emoluments of the directors on a named basis for
the year under review is set out on pages 90 to 91 in
note 12 to the consolidated financial statements. Review
and comparison in terms of directors’ emoluments
package and net profits of the Group are made from
time to time with comparable listed industrial companies
with similar capitalisation to the Group. Considering all
such factors, the Remuneration Committee would make
recommendation on the remuneration package for each
director after consultation with the Chairman.

During the year under review, the Remuneration
Committee had convened one meeting to consider the
remuneration packages for all directors.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for
preparing the Company’s account which gives a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Company. The
Company deploys appropriate and sufficient resources to
prepare unaudited half-yearly account and audited yearly
account. Senior management is required to present and
explain the financial reporting and matters that materially
affect or may have material impact on the financial
performance and operations of the Company to the Audit
Committee and the Board and respond to the queries and
concerns raised by the Audit Committee and the Board
to their satisfaction. The statement of the auditors of the
Company about their reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements is set out in Independent Auditor’s
Report on pages 45 to 46 of this annual report.
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Internal controls
The Group has in place a system of internal controls, the
key elements of which are as follows:

o formal policies and procedures are in place,
including the documentation of key processes,
procedures and rules relating to the delegation of
authorities. These allow the monitoring of controls
and restrict the unauthorised use of the Group
assets;

° experienced and suitably qualified staff take
responsibility for important business functions.
Annual appraisal procedures have been
established to maintain standards of performance;

° monthly business and financial reports are
prepared, providing relevant, timely, reliable and
up-to-date financial and other information; budget
variances are investigated as appropriate; and

° an internal audit function, which reports directly
to the Audit Committee, is in place to determine
whether the above procedures are properly carried
out.

The Board has conducted a review on the effectiveness of
the above internal control system of the Group including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management and will conduct such review at least once
a year, so as to ensure the shareholders’ investment and
the Company’s assets are properly safeguarded. The
Board is satisfied that, based on the information supplied,
coupled with its own observations and with the assistance
of the Audit Committee, the present internal controls and
risk management processes are satisfactory for the nature
and size of the Group’s operations and business.
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In addition to the internal control system, the Board has
established an internal audit team that reports directly
to the Audit Committee. The internal audit team will
independently audit various functions, operations and
systems existed in the Company according to their
weight of significance to the Company as well as the
priority list recommended by the Audit Committee. The
internal audit team will prepare an internal audit report
highlighting the deficiencies and weaknesses in existing
audit functions, operations and systems for discussion by
the Audit Committee and the Board, and based on these
findings the Board will instruct senior management to take
appropriate corrective and improvement actions.

Audit Committee

The Board has established the Audit Committee with
specific written terms of reference setting out duties,
responsibilities and authorities delegated to them by the
Board of directors. The major duties and responsibilities
of the Audit Committee include the followings:

° review with the external auditor, the audit plan;

° review with the external auditor, their evaluation of
the system of internal accounting controls;

o review the scope and results of the internal audit
procedures;
° review the balance sheet and income statement of

the Company and the consolidated balance sheet
and income statement of the Group and submit
them to the Board;

o nominate persons as auditor;

o review with the internal and external auditors their
findings on their evaluation of the Company’s
system of internal controls for the purpose of
assisting the Board in developing policies that
would enhance the controls and operating
systems of the Company; and

o review connected transactions and examine the
adequacy of internal controls of the Group as part
of the standard procedures.
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The duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing the
scope and results of the audit and its cost effectiveness
and the independence and objectivity of the Company’s
auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. The Audit Committee
will review the independence of the Company’s auditor,
the resources and adequacy of the internal audit function,
at least once a year. Where the auditor also supplies
non-audit services to the Company, the Committee
will keep the nature and extent of such services under
review, seeking to balance between the maintenance of
objectivity and value for money. During the year under
review, the fees paid/payable to the Company’s auditor
in respect of audit and non-audit services provided by the
Company’s auditor to the Group were as follows:

Nature of services RISHE

Audit services ZEARTE
Non-audit services IEZEBRTS

(i Tax services ) AR
(i) Other services (i) H At AR 75

The Audit Committee has undertaken a review of all the
non-audit services provided by the Company’s auditor
and concluded that in their opinion such services did
not affect the independence of the auditor. The Board
has appointed an accountant to be responsible for the
accounting and financial matters of the Group and the
Audit Committee has free access to the accountant and
senior management of the Group and to any financial
and relevant information which enable them to discharge
their audit committee function effectively and efficiently.
Besides internal assistance being available, the Audit
Committee may request for assistance and advice from
external auditors as and when they think necessary at
the expenses of the Company. The Audit Committee
shall meet with external auditor without the presence
of executive directors to discuss the Group’s financial
reporting and any major and financial matters arising
during the year under review at least once a year.
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In addition, the Audit Committee is authorised:—

° to investigate any matter within its written terms of
reference;

° to have full access to and co-operation by the
management;

° to have full discretion to invite any director or

executive officer to attend its meetings; and

o to have reasonable resources to enable it to
discharge its functions properly.

The Board will ensure that the members of the Audit
Committee are appropriately qualified to discharge their
responsibilities and at least one member has accounting
and related financial management expertise or experience.
The Audit Committee comprises four independent non-
executive directors and one non-executive director,
namely Mr. Leung Tai Chiu (Chairman), Mr. Chan
Charnwut Bernard, Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, Mr.
Mok Yiu Keung, Peter and Mr. Lo Ka Leong.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management
the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and discussed auditing, internal control and
financial reporting matters, including a review of the
audited annual financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2008.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Management function

The Company'’s articles of association set out matters
which are specifically reserved to the Board for its
decision. Executive directors normally meet on an
informal basis every two weeks and participate in senior
management meetings on a regular basis to keep abreast
of the latest operations and performance of the Group
and to monitor and ensure the management carry out the
directions and strategies set by the Board of directors
correctly and appropriately. Clear instructions are given to
the management as to the matters which should bring to
the attention and be determined by the Board on behalf
of the Company.

Board committees

The Board has set up three Board committees,
namely Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee, each chaired by different
independent non-executive director, to assist the Board
in discharging functions specific to each committee. Each
Board committee has its own written terms of reference
setting out the principles, procedures and arrangements
which are substantially the same as those for the Board.

The Nomination Committee comprises four members
who are independent non-executive directors, namely
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael (Chairman), Mr. Chan
Charmnwut Bernard, Mr. Leung Tai Chiu and Mr. Mok Yiu
Keung, Peter. According to the written terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee, the major responsibilities of
the Nomination Committee include:

o regularly review the structure, size and composition
of the Board and make recommendations to the
Board with regard to any adjustments that are
deemed necessary;
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o review whether or not an independent non-
executive director is independent for the purpose
of the Listing Rules on annual basis;

° be responsible for identifying and nominating for
the approval of the Board, candidates to fill board
vacancies as and when they arise;

o assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole
and the contribution by each individual director to
the effectiveness of the Board; and

° be responsible for re-nomination having regard
to the director’s contribution and performance,
including, if applicable, as an independent director.

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee
had convened a meeting for the nomination of directors
for re-election in the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company. The Nomination Committee had
resolved that Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa, Ms. Chan Sau
Chi, Mr. Liu Min, Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael and
Mr. Leung Tai Chiu, shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company. All the above-named directors were nominated
by the Nomination Committee to stand for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Board endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue
with shareholders. All directors are encouraged to attend
the general meetings to have personal communication
with shareholders. In annual general meeting, Chairman
of the Board and the chairman of each committee
are required to attend and answer questions from
shareholders in respect of the matters that they are
responsible and accountable for. The external auditor
is also required to be present to assist the directors in
addressing any relevant queries by shareholders. The
Company has also set up a public relations website
which enables the shareholders and public to post their
questions, comments and opinions in relation to the
Group to the Board.
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The Company’s annual general meeting (“AGM”) and
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) provide good
opportunities for shareholders to air their views and ask
directors and management questions regarding the
Company. All shareholders of the Company receive the
annual report, circulars and notices of AGM and EGM
and other corporate communications. The notices are
also published in newspapers. Separate resolutions are
required at general meetings on each distinct issue. A
shareholder is permitted to appoint any number of proxies
to attend and vote in his stead.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB RE

Deloitte.
=2

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KINGBOARD LAMINATES
HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out
on pages 47 to 127, which comprise the consolidated balance
sheet as at 31 December 2008, and the consolidated income
statement, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

QOur responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as
to whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and true and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31
December 2008 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 March 2009
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Consolidated Income Statement

o~ 32
melamak
For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —EF/\F+ - H=1—HI F/ZF

2008 2007
—ETN\FE ZETF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
FdaE THT FAT
Revenue ] 6 10,127,764 10,426,783
Cost of sales SHEMK A (8,149,908) (7,671,540)
Gross profit EF 1,977,856 2,755,243
Other income H AU A 8 48,385 69,631
Distribution costs SaN = I DN (187,934) (178,744)
Administrative costs T AR (427,918) (423,159)
Discount on acquisition of additional U B —REIBT B A A
interest in a subsidiary RAIMEm 2 T8 26,800 =
Finance costs BhE AR 9 (116,053) (168,136)
Profit before taxation B F3 AR A 1,321,136 2,054,835
Income tax expense FRiSHiFAX 10 (70,466) (129,226)
Profit for the year INEE A 11 1,250,670 1,925,609
Attributable to: FEML %R
Equity holders of the Company RAREZREA 1,203,804 1,813,269
Minority interests DERR R 46,866 112,340
1,250,670 1,925,609
Dividends A% B 13 960,000 300,000
Earnings per share BRET 14
Basic HK HK$0.401;8t HKS$0.604/& 7T
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

REBEERER

At 31 December 2008 R —ZEZENF+-H=4+—H

2008 2007
ZEENE —ETF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
{iFza THT FAT
Non-current assets EMBNEE
Investment properties "EME 15 42,005 40,537
Properties, plant and equipment M - BB RERE 16 5,907,816 5,152,176
Prepaid lease payments FEN R ERIE 17 266,993 193,187
Available-for-sale investments At HERE 18 19,800 19,800
Non-current deposits ERETE 19 78,249 221,589
Deferred tax assets RIEFIEE = 20 4,675 1,632
Goodwill EES 21 238 238
6,319,776 5,629,159
Current assets mBNEE
Inventories FE 22 1,668,934 1,510,586
Trade and other receivables and B 5 REAMEKERR KX
prepayments FaftRIA 238 2,380,941 3,510,045
Prepaid lease payments TN ERIE 17 4,712 4,199
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries FEWE XM B ARIIE 25 182,406 391,767
Derivative financial instruments PTHESBMIA 26 3,027 1,637
Taxation recoverable AU eI IR 7,063 12,074
Bank balances and cash IRITHEBR MRS 24 2,237,499 1,471,742
6,484,582 6,902,050
Current liabilities mERE
Trade and other payables B 5 MEHMEMNERR 27 837,719 892,259
Bills payable FER =& 27 319,765 600,967
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries ERRREMBARZIE 25 10,818 4,042
Derivative financial instruments TEEmITEA 26 255 1,184
Taxation payable FESITIR 233,673 228,255
Bank borrowings — amount due RITEE - —FRNEIE
within one year OB 28 1,078,370 636,634
2,480,600 2,363,341
Net current assets MENEEFE 4,003,982 4,538,709
Total assets less current liabilities BEABRTEAE 10,323,758 10,167,868
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Consolidated Balance Sheet 5 EEEER
At 31 December 2008 R —EZENNFE+—-H=+—H

2008 2007
—EEN\FE —EE+F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5E F#&T T
Non-current liabilities FERBAE
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFRIEA G 20 316 -
Derivative financial instruments PTHESRTE 26 35,273 =
Bank borrowings — amount due IRITEE - —F1& 35
after one year 7 RIA 28 2,130,024 2,573,462
2,165,613 2,573,462
8,158,145 7,594,406
Capital and reserves AR A R (4
Share capital i@ 29 300,000 300,000
Reserves e 6,968,942 6,439,745
Equity attributable to equity holders ARARERFFAEA
of the Company fEfh e 7,268,942 6,739,745
Minority interests DEAR R e 889,203 854,661
Total equity BB 8,158,145 7,594,406

The consolidated financial statements on pages 47 to 127 were

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
27 March 2009 and are signed on its behalf by:

Cheung Kwok Wa

REIE
DIRECTOR
EF

EFEHN T

NE=ZR -+ RABHERKET

BEATAEFI12TAZHEMBHRE - XA TIIE

Cheung Kwok Keung

D

RER
IRECTOR
EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

an\

EEZBEE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —ZFZE )\ F+ - A=+—HIFFZ

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

FATRRKH AR
Minority
Share Share Translation Hedging  Special Statutory Retained interests Total
capital premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve profits Total U] equity
B BROAR ERGE HIEE RHURE ZERE  REEN & BREE #xE§
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$O000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
Tér Thr Thr TEr  TExr TEr  TEr TEr  TEr TR
(no@e 30) (noﬁe a
(f30)  (Miita)
Balanceat 1 January 2007  R=ZFT+E—-F—A
i 300,000 1,097,104 221,722 - 757,689 6,185 2555468 4938168 700,936 5,639,104
Exchange differences arising ~ RITEZ 24
on translation to EMmELL
presentation currency EREE = - 288308 - - - - 288308 41244 329552
Profitfor the year REE&T = = - - - - 1813269 1813269 112340 1,925,609
Total recognised income REERRMALE
for the year - - 288308 - - - 1813269 2101577 153,584 2,255,161
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEERBAR - - - - - - - - 19605 19,605
Dividend paid to minority iﬁ %’J %{Hﬁ
shareholders - - - - - - - - (19464)  (19464)
Interim dividend paid for Hét Z-EEt
the year ended 1= H_Jr*E t
31 December 2007 EETHRE - - - - - - (300000) (300,000) - (300000)
- - - - - - (300000) (300,000) 14 (299,859)
Balance at 31 December 2007 H=ZZ+F+-f
=T-HzE#H 300,000 1,097,104 510,030 - 757,689 6,185 4,008,737 6,739,745 854,661 7,594,406
Lossoncashflowhedges ~ BeREdTER - - - wm4n) - - - W4n) - [W4n)
Exchange differences arising ~ RITEZ E4
on translation to SRmEES
presentation currency ERZEE - - 320,666 - - - - 320666 47805 368471
Net income (expense) BEMES AR
recognised directly in equity 2 MA(FI%)/F8 - - 30666 (41,411) - - - 279255 47805 327,060
Profit for the year REEER = = = = = - 1,203,804 1,208,804 46,866 1,250,670
Trangfer to profitorlosson ~~ BEAREH R
cash flow hedges BRZER - - - 6138 - - - 6,138 - 6,138
Total recognised income and RS EREAIMA
expense for the year RE% A - - 30666 @ (35273) - - 1203804 1,489,197 94671 1,583,868
Acquisition of additional e~ ﬁMTE ]
interest n a subsidiary ?%E?ME = = = = - - - - (85275)  (35,275)
Dividend paid to minority iﬁ DERFEL
shareholders - - - - - - - - (4854) (24.854)
Final dividend paid for ‘Iéﬁz
the year ended +Z8= ‘|‘ HJt
31 December 2007 EEFHRE - - - - = - (600000) (600,000 - (800,000)
Interim dividend paid for BREE-EEN\F
the year ended +=A=1+-HLt
31 December 2008 EERERE o o - - - - (360,000) (360,000) - (360,000)
= = = = = - (950000) (960,000)  (B0129) (1,020,129)
Balance at 31 December 2008 R =ZZN\F+-f
=T-HzE#H 300,000 1,097,104 830,69 (35,273) 757,689 6,185 4312541 72068942 889,203 8,158,145

Note: B e -

(@) Statutory fund, which is non-distributable, is appropriated from the profit  (a) TAI DR ZEEES DRBEFEARKNE (TBREER
after taxation of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the People’s B)([HRE D ZERERRERRARRANFBRKLZ
Republic of China (other than Hong Kong) (“PRC”) under the applicable B8R A2 BRBUE IR TR ©
laws and regulations in the PRC.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

AN =
?-W =} Iﬁﬁulbi%:z
For the year ended 31 December 2008 # % —EZE )\ F+ - H=+—HI FF

2008 2007
—ETNE —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#T FABT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES rEER
Profit before taxation B FE B % A 1,321,136 2,054,835
Adjustments for: BLATNIBEEH AR -
Depreciation of properties, Yz - BEREEZ
plant and equipment e 719,143 564,618
Release of prepaid lease payments TENEERIERE D 4,712 4,198
Interest expenses and other MBS R EHA
finance charges mEEH 116,053 168,136
Impairment losses recognised on BE 5 K E A EUERFK
trade and other receivables R 2 MEEE 8,101 19,854
Loss on disposal and write off of HENMEME « K=
properties, plant and equipment KR 2 518 608 896
Gain on fair value changes of "EMENFEE
investment properties & (1,468) (317)
Gain on fair value changes of AmREHAFE
commodity forward contracts B8 2 Wk (2,454) (368)
Gain on fair value changes of INE IR ER A KA TFE
foreign currency forward contracts BEh 7 ek (318) (85)
Discount on acquisition of additional g [ PSRRI
interest in a subsidiary RS2 ITE (26,800) -
Interest income FEUW A (21,871) (30,559)
Operating cash flows before RETEEESEHAI 2
movement in working capital KEB SRS 2,116,842 2,781,208
Increase in inventories FEEm (138,503) (167,102)
Decrease (increase) in trade and E 5 REMEWRIRR M
other receivables and prepayments FaftEEsE A (1 4n) 1,196,538 (687,047)
Decrease (increase) in amounts i EE ) YNCIE O
due from fellow subsidiaries A (380) 209,361 (218,586)
(Decrease) increase in trade and B 5 R EAER IR
other payables CR) 38 (358,332) 69,304
(Decrease) increase in bills payable FEAST 2245 CRt 4 ) 3E N (281,202) 45,039
Net increase in derivative PTES BT A
financial instruments FEE 453 3,509
Increase (decrease) in amounts FERN AR B A FIRIE
due to fellow subsidiaries #EICHD) 6,776 (839)
Cash generated from operations IR IRATS IR & 2,751,933 1,825,486
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid EHBEBNET (1,492) (48,644)
Other taxes paid HAb B HFE (61,272) (126,875)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING REXBABREFHE
ACTIVITIES 2,689,169 1,649,967
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 425 £ 7 2%

For the year ended 31 December 2008 {2 —EZE\F+=-H=1+—HIFFZF

2008 2007
—ETNE —ETF
NOTE HK$’000 HK$’ 000
Lz THET FAT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREEWK
Purchase of properties, BEWE  WEREE
plant and equipment (854,078) (1,325,365)
Deposits paid for BEWE  WEKREE
acquisition of properties, ZENEEA
plant and equipment (78,197) (197,677)
Prepaid lease payments made ERTEREERIE = (11,213)
Interest received BHFIE 21,871 30,559
Proceeds from disposal of properties,  HEWE - BE REE
plant and equipment FriS 308 38,228 65,741
Consideration paid for acquisition A BN E s
of additional interest in Fr (B
available-for-sale investments - (10,800)
Consideration paid for acquisition g D[S NGIEEE
of additional interest in a subsidiary P 2 KB (8,475) -
Net cash inflow (outflow) arising on WHEEH B A AREEZIRE
acquisition of subsidiaries MA R ) F58 32 20,280 (110,928)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REXBFTA
ACTIVITIES BT (860,371) (1,559,683)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE
New bank borrowings raised HIGRITEE 1,164,018 683,059
Repayment of bank borrowings 1;@&171%1% (1,165,720) (548,650)
Dividends paid on ordinary shares BT E BB (960,000) (300,000)
Dividends paid to minority shareholders & 54> %{Hxﬁﬂﬁ B (24,854) (19,464)
Interest and other finance charges paid £ 15 #1| 8.} E fib 7 & & FH (116,053) (168,136)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING mEEE A
ACTIVITIES BT (1,102,609) (353,191)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH R&RREZE YN
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ORD) 35 726,189 (262,907)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FHzEEeRRE
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR ZEY 1,471,742 1,713,324
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE ERgETE
RATE CHANGES 39,568 21,325
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZEERBAESEEY
AT THE END OF THE YEAR, BRITHEBRRE
REPRESENTING BANK BALANCES
AND CASH 2,237,499 1,471,742
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B HmRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —ZFZE )\ F+ - A=+—HIFFZ

GENERAL

The Company was incorporated and registered as an
exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman
Islands on 10 May 2006 and its shares were listed on
the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 7 December 2006.
Its immediate parent company is Jamplan (BVI) Ltd., a
limited liability company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands and its ultimate holding company is Kingboard
Chemical Holdings Limited (“KCHL”), a company which is
an exempted company with limited liability incorporated
in the Cayman Islands with its shares listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange. The addresses of the
registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in the section headed “Corporate
Information” on pages 2 to 3.

The functional currency of the Group is Renminbi (“RMB”)
while the consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$"), which the management of
the Company considered is more beneficial for the users
of the consolidated financial statements.

The Company is an investment holding company and
the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in
Note 37.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments and interpretations (“new HKFRSs”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) which are or have become effective.

HKAS 39 & HKFRS 7 Reclassification of financial assets
(Amendments)
HK(IFRIC)* — INT 11 HKFRS 2: Group and treasury

share transactions

HK(IFRIC) — INT 12 Service concession arrangements

HK(FRIC) - INT 14 HKAS 19 - The limit on a defined
benefit asset, minimum funding

requirements and their interaction
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 44 B #&E R T MIsE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2= —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

54

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

The adoption of the new HKFRSs had no material effect
on how the results and the financial position for the
current or prior accounting periods have been prepared
and presented. Accordingly, no prior period adjustment

has been required.

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised standards, amendments or interpretations that
have been issued but are not yet effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKAS 1 (Revised)
HKAS 23 (Revised)
HKAS 27 (Revised)
HKAS 32 & 1
(Amendments)

HKAS 39 (Amendment)

HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27
(Amendments)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)
HKFRS 3 (Revised)

HKFRS 7 (Amendment)

HKFRS 8
HK(IFRIC) — INT 9 &
HKAS 39 (Amendment)

HK(IFRIC) - INT 13
HK(IFRIC) — INT 15
HK(IFRIC) - INT 16
HK(IFRIC) — INT 17
HK(IFRIC) - INT 18

Improvements to HKFRSs

Presentation of financial statements 2

Borrowing costs 2

Consolidated and separate financial
statements 3

Puttable financial instruments and
obligations arising on liquidation 2

Eligible hedged items @

Cost of an investment in a subsidiary,
jointly controlled entity or associate 2

Vesting conditions and cancellations 2
Business combinations 2
Improving disclosures about

financial instruments 2

Operating segments 2
Embedded derivatives *

Customer loyalty programmes °
Agreements for the construction
of real estate 2

Hedges of a net investment in
a foreign operation ¢

Distribution of non-cash assets
to owners 8

Transfer of assets from customers 7
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %4
For the year ended 31 December 2008 ## —EZE\F+ - H=+—HI F/ZF

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009
except the amendments to HKFRS 5, effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

4 Effective for annual periods ending on or after 30 June 2009.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008.

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 October
2008.

7 Effective for transfers on or after 1 July 2009.

IFRIC represents the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee.

The adoption of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the
accounting treatment for business combination for which
the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first
annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 July 2009.
HKAS 27 (Revised) will affect the accounting treatment for
changes in parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control, which will be accounted
for as equity transactions.

The directors of the Company (the “Director”) anticipate
that the application of other new or revised standards,
amendments or interpretations will have no material
impact on the results or financial position of the Group.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for investment
properties and certain financial instruments, which are
measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 44 B #&E R T MIsE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2= —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

56

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) made up
to 31 December each year. Control is achieved where
the Company has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits
from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated income
statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to
the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with those used by other members of the
Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, incomes and
expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated
subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s
equity therein. Minority interests in the net assets consist
of the amount of those interests at the date of the original
business combination and the minority’s share of changes
in equity since the date of the combination. Losses
applicable to the minority in excess of the minority’s
interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against
the interests of the Group except to the extent that the
minority has a binding obligation and is able to make an
additional investment to cover the losses.

On acquisition of additional interest in subsidiaries,
goodwill arising is calculated as the difference between
the consideration paid for the additional interest and the
carrying amount of the net assets of the subsidiaries
attributable to the additional interest acquired. If the
Group’s additional interest in the net assets of the
subsidiaries exceeds the consideration paid for the
additional interest, the excess is recognised immediately as
income in the consolidated income statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4525
For the year ended 31 December 2008 &t —FEZE N\ F+_—-H=+—HI F/F

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Business combinations

The acquisition of businesses is accounted for using
the purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is
measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the
date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or
assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs
directly attributable to the business combination. The
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under
HKFRS 3 “Business combinations” are recognised at their
fair values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset
and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
cost of the business combination over the Group’s
interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised. If, after
reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net fair value of
the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities exceeds the cost of the business combination,
the excess is recognised immediately in the consolidated
income statement.

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is
initially measured at the minority’s proportion of the net
fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
recognised.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the
Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the relevant business
at the date of acquisition. Such goodwill is carried at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses.

Capitalised goodwill arising on an acquisition of a
business is presented separately in the consolidated
balance sheet.

B IR MR

EEWEHRE )

ES =

WEEEXBRABE ST RBEALR - B
RARRGERRERTZEE - FELR
AIEZ BE - ARAEBESESRKRET
MEBETRATAZ XA FERRE - SME
BAGhERBIEZEMKATE - 6
BV SERIRER B EBA 0 IR
2 RBEL ZA#BIEE - AEREIR
BfE - HUBEE R A TERR -

RUEMEL cHERRB/EE - HIF
WA (BN RS A H AN BB AN R EPTE 2
BEERZABHEE BERIARAEZ

NHEFE S ED)FE o WREH
AHATR - NEB R REIETT Z AR E
E - BEMIRBEZAVEFHE S
BREBFA KA - HEB a0 AN 4R
AU R AR o

’“%{HQ?F’\‘%&H&@%HZ%*W*Hfz’J\%IHQ
RNCHEREE  BERIARREZR
BEFRELLPIEE -

[i]
WRERBAEEZEE - THEBEBNRANE
HASE RIS B R B R 2 AT &
MEE  BENRIRBERFEZERZ
HE - AR BRI RARERE
5B -

4]

WE—REBRELY D EMZAER
HABERERANBILZEY -

Annual Report 2008 Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited 57

T \FFER BERERZERARQF



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 44 B #&E R T MIsE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2= —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Goodwill (continued)

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the acquisition. A cash-generating unit to which goodwiill
has been allocated is tested for impairment annually,
and whenever there is an indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
financial year, the cash-generating unit to which goodwiill
has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end
of that financial year. When the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount
of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit first,
and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the
basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in the
consolidated income statement. An impairment loss for
goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

On initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at their fair values using the fair value
model. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of investment properties are included in profit or
loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in the consolidated income statement in the year
in which the item is derecognised.

Annual Report 2008 Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited
T )\FER BERERERERA T

FESEE )

BEE)

SURERAME  WEMEE ZBENR
DRBRMBz BRRERZ R X B
REeEABMN  SMEELBEM AR -
CENEBEZRSELENESFRAZ
BB B R BR T R R (B B TR (E DR
A MNP FE 2 WBEL ZEEN
5 DEOIEREZREELEMNZH
BEETEMETRENR - ERTESL
Bz el BORNZELM REE
BPREBIER DA - B EHDR D B EIZ
B2 EAREEZREE - MERAEN
BEEZREERESE - REHIDEEIZ
BUCHMEE - 8 ZEMRERIRTD
REFERBERANEERRER - BEZRERS
BEREZEBEATREE -

BREMX
REWMEDFERDES R, REREE
ZWE e

RV PHERE - REMETIRKAGTE
BRENEEREERX - RVITHERE
BREWMERNTFEARTEEXGE - &
EMERNTEEPHELZ BB ARE
ELMRZIEEA -

BEMERNHER - KEXAFLERZ
REWME  REBHHETEELRKEE
PR GIRRTER o SRR BEEMES
Z AR (REERSFIRFREZEE
REERZZREE) - Tt ASIRRHEREA
BFEzHFANERA -
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2= —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TE®HEE

(continued)

Properties, plant and equipment

Properties, plant and equipment (other than properties,
plant and equipment under construction) used in
the production of goods or supply of services, or for
administrative purposes, are stated in the consolidated
balance sheet at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of
properties, plant and equipment other than properties,
plant and equipment under construction over their
estimated useful lives and after taking into account of their
estimated residual value, using the straight-line method
(see Note 16 for the depreciation rates per annum of the
items of properties, plant and equipment).

Properties, plant and equipment under construction,
representing properties, plant and equipment in the
course of construction for production or for its own
use purposes, are carried at cost less any recognised
impairment loss. Properties, plant and equipment under
construction is classified to the appropriate category
of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on
the same basis as other property assets, commences
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

An item of properties, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of
the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is
included in the consolidated income statement in the year
in which the item is derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Properties, plant and equipment (continued)
Leasehold land and buildings under development for
future owner-occupied purpose

When the leasehold land and buildings are in the course
of development for production, rental or for administrative
purposes, the leasehold land component is classified as a
prepaid lease payment and amortised over a straight-line
basis over the lease term. During the construction period,
the amortisation charge provided for the leasehold land is
included as part of costs of buildings under construction.
Buildings under construction are carried at cost, less any
identified impairment losses. Depreciation of buildings
commences when they are available for use (i.e. when
they are in the location and condition necessary for them
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management).

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials
and, where applicable, direct labour costs and those
overheads that have been incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition. Cost
is calculated using the weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price less
all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred
in marketing, selling and distribution.

Impairment losses on assets (other than goodwill
(see the accounting policies in respect of
goodwill))

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If the recoverable amount
of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as
an expense immediately.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 75 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2= —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FE®HB¥ 2

(continued)

Impairment losses on assets (other than goodwill
(see the accounting policies in respect of
goodwill)) (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis
over the term of the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to
the consolidated income statement on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits received
and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating
lease are recognised as a reduction of rental expense
over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and building

The land and building elements of a lease of land and
building are considered separately for the purpose of
lease classification, unless the lease payments cannot
be allocated reliably between the land and building
elements, in which case, the entire contract is treated as
a finance lease and accounted for as properties, plant
and equipment. To the extent the allocation of the lease
payments can be made reliably, leasehold interests in land
are accounted as operating leases except for those that
are classified and accounted for as investment properties
under fair value model.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchange prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet
date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance
sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items,
are recognised in the consolidated income statement
in the period in which they arise. Exchange differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried
at fair value are included in the consolidated income
statement for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the group entities
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange prevailing
at the balance sheet date, and their income and expenses
are translated at the average exchange rates for the year,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised as a separate component of
equity (the translation reserve).

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets and liabilities acquired arising on an acquisition
of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities
of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in the translation
reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets.
Capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the
consolidated income statement in the period in which
they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
including state-managed pension schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes are charged as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in
the consolidated income statement because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and it further excludes items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and
is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled
or the asset realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited
to the consolidated income statement, except when it
relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in
which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FE®HB¥R 2

(continued)

Financial instruments SRTA

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on EEBEERKNATEGNEXZEIAR
the consolidated balance sheet when the Group entity B MREERMEEBESRGEEESR
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the BRER - WHEEERMEEBEVFIEA
instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities are FEFE c ANBRBTHBEERTH
initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are BEGRATEFABRZ B EE RS
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial BERIN MEERE 2R ZRAAEHE
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets REF - REABRMASINEZERBE
and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) EXUFEECATE - EREZATE
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the ARG MBEEXMBEBEMAES
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on B2 RSB 4R A U R FER o

initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately
in the consolidated income statement.

Financial assets HBEE

The Group’s financial assets are classified into (i) financial REBMBEESER()VEAFERA
assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), (i) B ([RAFEFABR ) ZHBEE
loans and receivables and (i) available-for-sale financial (i E R R EUERR ¢ R (i) ATt E M E
assets. All regular way purchases or sales of financial E-FIAEREEBECZUKEENR S AR
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date REGIGTHER - BEBEERARET ISR
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or RIS ERHIRT S 2 R AR E E 2 B ﬁ*é
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets EBE  pEERVBEEMREN S
within the time frame established by regulation or R T o

convention in the marketplace. The accounting policies
adopted in respect of each category of financial assets
are set out below.

Effective interest method HEEAEE

The effective interest method is a method of calculating BRI R AR —TEAEU S E E#HER A
the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating B R F BWAZEE BB 2 5% - BER
interest income over the relevant period. The effective 2= 2 LA ST B 75 B EE ] A EE HAsk
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated (wniEA) B ARG ARRRS WA (BIE
future cash receipts (including all fees paid or received FIBERASNZEBR  EBRMERE
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, BEZWA - REEAE B RESITE)
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) IR o

through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest B T ERF B TR B B F) = A
basis for debt instruments. 7o
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at FVTPL are financial assets held for
trading. A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near future; or

° it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial
instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial
recognition, financial assets at FVTPL are measured at
fair value, with changes in fair value recognised directly
in the consolidated income statement in the period in
which they arise. The net gain or loss recognised in the
consolidated income statement excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables (including trade and other
receivables, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, non-
current deposits and bank balances and cash) are non-
derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market. At each
balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, loans
and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any identified impairment
losses. (See accounting policy on impairment of financial
assets below).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that
are either designated or not classified as financial assets
at FVTPL, loans and receivables or held-to-maturity
investments.

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial
recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are
measured at fair value. Changes in fair value are
recognised in equity, until the financial asset is disposed
of or is determined to be impaired, at which time, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is
removed from equity and recognised in the consolidated
income statement. (See accounting policy on impairment
of financial assets below).

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have
a quoted market price in an active market and whose
fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured
at cost less any identified impairment losses at each
balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition.
(See accounting policy on impairment of financial assets
below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed
for indicators of impairment at each balance sheet date.
Financial assets are impaired where there is objective
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset,
the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets
have been impacted.

For an available-for sale equity investment, a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment
below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of
impairment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of
impairment could include significant financial difficulty
of the issuer or counterparty; or it becomes probable
that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-
organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are subsequently assessed for impairment
on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment
for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s
past experience of collecting payments, an increase in
the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past
the credit period and observable changes in national or
local economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount
of impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated
income statement when there is objective evidence that
the asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the
original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent
periods.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount
is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account
are recognised in the consolidated income statement.
When a trade receivable and other receivables are
considered uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to the consolidated
income statement.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in
a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment losses were
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed through the consolidated income statement
to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at the
date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment
not been recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments
will not be reversed in the consolidated income statement
in subsequent periods. Any increase in fair value
subsequent to impairment loss is recognised directly in

equity.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified according to the substance
of the contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities. The Group’s financial liabilities are
generally classified into financial liabilities at FVTPL and
other financial liabilities. The accounting policies adopted
in respect of financial liabilities and equity instruments are
set out below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expenses is recognised on an effective interest
basis.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
The Group’s financial liabilities at FVTPL are financial
liabilities held for trading. A financial liability is classified as
held for trading if:

° it has been incurred principally for the purpose of
repurchasing in the near future; or

° it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial
instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial
recognition, financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss are measured at fair value, with changes in fair
value recognised directly in the consolidated income
statement in the period in which they arise. The net gain
or loss recognised in the consolidated income statement
excludes any interest paid on the financial liabilities.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other
payables, bills payable, amounts due to fellow subsidiaries
and bank borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair values at each balance sheet
date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and
effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the
timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the
nature of the hedge relationship.

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are
deemed as financial assets held for trading or financial
liabilities held for trading and are classified as current
assets or current liabilities.

Hedge accounting

The Group uses derivative financial instruments
(primarily interest rate swap contracts) to hedge its
exposure against changes in interest rate on bank
borrowings. At the inception of the hedging relationship
the Group documents the relationship between the
hedging instrument and hedged item, along with its risk
management objectives and its strategy for undertaking
various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception
of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group
documents whether the hedging instrument that is used
in a hedging relationship is highly effective in offsetting
changes in cash flows of the hedged item.

Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of
derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow
hedges are deferred in equity (hedging reserve). The gain
or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as other gain or losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Hedge accounting (continued)

Cash flow hedge (continued)

Amounts deferred in equity are recycled in profit or loss in
the periods when the hedged item is recognised in profit
or loss.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group
revokes the hedging relationship, the hedging instrument
expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer
qualifies for hedge accounting. Any cumulative gain or
loss deferred in equity at that time remains in equity and
is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately
recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is
no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss
that was deferred in equity is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial
assets are transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and
the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised
directly in equity is recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in the consolidated
income statement.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to directors and employees of the
Group

The fair value of services received determined by
reference to the fair value of share options granted at the
grant date is recognised as an expense in full at the grant
date when the share options granted vest immediately,
with a corresponding increase in the share option reserve.

At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates
during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in the
consolidated income statement, with a corresponding
adjustment to share option reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised,
the amount previously recognised in the share option
reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the
share options are forfeited after vesting date or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
retained profits.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts
receivables for goods sold and services provided in the
normal course of business, net of discounts, returns and
sales related taxes.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when the
goods are delivered and title has passed.

Service income for drilling services is recognised when
services are provided.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Interest income from a financial asset excluding financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss is accrued on a
time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and
at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant lease.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when
the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
established.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of the bank
borrowings, net of cash and cash equivalents, and equity
attributable to equity holders of the Company, comprising
issued share capital, reserves and retained earnings as
disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity.

The Directors review the capital structure on a semi-
annual basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each
class of capital. In the opinion of the Directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-
backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption
of existing debt.
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5.

5a.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 5. &RmTH
Categories of financial instruments 5a. S©@MIAEH
2008 2007
—EE)N\FE —EFTLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FATT
Financial assets MBEEE
FVTPL — Held for trading HEEE B ATEA
b=y 3,027 1,637
Loans and receivables EFR R EWERR
— trade and other receivables — B 5 REMERBRR 2,228,092 3,197,056
— amounts due from fellow — FEUL [R RHT B A Al
subsidiaries IE 182,406 391,767
— bank balances and cash —RTEBR RIS 2,237,499 1,471,742
— non-current deposits i 78,249 221,589
4,726,246 5,282,154
Available-for-sale investments AIHHERE 19,800 19,800
Financial liabilities MHEaRE
FVTPL — Held for trading HEEE B AFEA
828 255 1,184
Derivative instruments in HaEH e EER
designated hedge ZHTETAR
accounting relationships 35,273 -
Amortised cost B SHRC AR
— trade and other payables — 85 REMEMRR
(excluding accrued (MRIETER
expenses) ZH) 536,678 595,199
— bills payable —ENEE 319,765 600,967
—amounts due to fellow — R RHT B A a)
subsidiaries IR 10,818 4,042
— bank borrowings —RITIEE 3,208,394 3,210,096
4,075,655 4,410,304
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5.

76

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

5b. Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
trade and other receivables, non-current
deposits, bank balances and cash, available-
for-sale investments, amounts due from (to)
fellow subsidiaries, trade and other payables,
bank borrowings and bills payable. Details of the
financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk,
interest rate risk and commodity price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign
currency sales and purchases, which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk. Approximately 19%
(2007: 14%) of the Group’s sales are denominated
in currencies other than the functional currency
of the relevant group entity making the sale,
whilst almost 49% (2007: 51%) of purchases are
denominated in currencies other than the group

entity’s functional currency.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and
liabilities at the balance sheet dates are disclosed
in respective notes. During the year, the Group
has entered into certain foreign currency forward
contracts to hedge against part of its exposure to
potential variability of foreign currency risk arising
from changes in foreign exchange exposure. The
management continuously monitors the foreign
exchange exposure and will consider further
hedging foreign currency risk should the need

arise.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. #MIR»)
5b. Financial risk management objectives and 5b. HBERAKBEEBEERBE(Z)

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group mainly exposes to fluctuation against
foreign currencies of United States dollars and
Japanese Yen. The following table details the
Group’s sensitivity to a 10% (2007: 5%) increase
and decrease in RMB, the group entities’
functional currency, against the relevant foreign
currencies. 10% (2007: 5%) is the sensitivity rate
used when reporting foreign currency risk internally
to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. As a
result of the volatile financial market in 2008, the
management adjusted the sensitivity rate from 5%
to 10% for the purpose of assessing the foreign
currency risk. The sensitivity analysis includes
only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the
year end for a 10% (2007: 5%) change in foreign
currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes
trade and other receivables, bank balances, trade
and other payables, bills payable as well as bank
borrowings. A positive number below indicates an
increase in post-tax profit for the year where RMB
strengthen 10% (2007: 5%) against the relevant
currency. For a 10% (2007: 5%) weakening of
RMB against the relevant currency, there would
be an equal and opposite impact on the post-tax
profit for the year.

B e ()

EWRR(E)

BRES I
AEBEFEmHEETRAERINEG
FEB - TRFMLAEEH AR
(SEEEMNIEERE) K AEMINE
FER10% ( Z T LF : 5%) (&K
REE 0 10% (ZBT+F : 5%) 5B
REBMRELEEBEE A B ERI
ERBFTRANSRE @ TeEEE
HIONETE R 5 IBE BT o EEE’\
SRTENR _TTN\FKH

2 15 FE A 1 L B ZE}WEES%
AR E10% - HREDMEIFEH K
EIEAR AN T BN ERIEE - ¥
FREEI0%(ZZZLF : 5%)
BEELILAE - FRESTERIE
B 5 REMBEUARE  RITHEE -
BHREMBANER - BNEEK
IRITEE - EERIEARKE SR
BEEAEI1I0% (=T L5 : 5%)
B - REERRBEEBFEM -
BEARBHBEBEEBKI0%(=ZF
T 5% - AJREHAFER
T nfERERRMTE -

2008 2007

ZEE)\FE —EETLF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FATT

United States Dollars ETT (104,768) (45,448)
Japanese Yen HIE 9,015 929

The management consider that the exposure of
the outstanding foreign currency forward contracts
at the balance sheet date as a result of the change
in foreign currency exchange rate is not significant
as the exchange rate of HK$ is pegged against
United States Dollars.
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5.

78

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

5b. Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to floating-rate bank borrowings (see
Note 28 for details of these borrowings). In relation
to these floating-rate borrowings, the Group aims
at keeping certain borrowings at fixed rates. In
order to achieve this result, the Group may enter
into interest rate swap contracts to hedge against
part of its exposure to potential variability of cash
flows arising from changes in floating rate (see
Note 26 for details). The management continuously
monitors interest rate fluctuation and will consider
further hedging interest rate risk should the need

arise.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on
financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk
management section of this note. The Group’s
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly related to the
fluctuation of HIBOR arising from the Group’s

Hong Kong dollar denominated borrowings.

The Group’s bank balances have exposure to
cash flow interest rate risk due to the fluctuation
of the prevailing market interest rate on bank
balances. The Group is also exposed to fair value
interest rate risk relates primarily to its fixed-rate
short term bank deposits. The Directors consider
the Group’s exposure of the short-term bank
deposits to interest rate risk is not significant as
interest bearing bank balances are within short

maturity period.
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5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

5b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rates risk for interest bearing bank balances
and bank borrowings as well as interest rate
swap contracts at the balance sheet date. The
analysis is assuming the financial instruments
outstanding at the balance sheet date were
outstanding for the whole year. A 100 basis points
(2007: 50 basis points) increase or decrease is
used when reporting interest rate risk internally
to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonable
possible change in interest rates.

The management adjusted the sensitivity rate from
50 basis points to 100 basis points for assessing
interest rate after considering the impact of the
volatile financial market conditions after the third
quarter of 2008.

If interest rate had been 100 basis points (2007:
50 basis points) higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s:

° post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2008 would decrease/increase
by HK$13,392,000 (2007: decrease/
increase by HK$8,692,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure
to interest rates risk on its interest
bearing bank balances and variable-rate
borrowings; and

° the debit side hedging reserve would
decrease/increase by HK$35,034,000
(2007: nil) mainly as a result of the changes
in the fair value of interest rate swap
contracts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4324

For the year ended 31 December 2008 &t2 —FEZE N\ F+—-H=+—HI F/Z

5.

80

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

5b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Commodity price risk

The Group was exposed to commodity price risk
from the outstanding commodity forward contracts
at the balance sheet date. The management
consider that the price risks of these derivative
instruments are not significant to the Group.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in
the event of the counterparties’ failure to perform
their obligations at 31 December 2008 in relation
to each class of recognised financial assets is
the carrying amount of those assets as stated
in the consolidated balance sheet. In order to
minimise the credit risk, the board of directors has
delegated the management to be responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual trade debt at each
balance sheet date to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the Directors consider
that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk in relation to bank deposits and
bank balances is considered minimal as such
amounts are placed with banks with good credit
ratings.

The Group has no significant concentration of
credit risk on trade and other receivables, with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties
and customers other than group entities. However,
the Group is exposed to the concentration on
geographic and industry segment of the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) and laminates
industry. At 31 December 2008, approximately
94% (2007: 92%) of the Group’s trade and other
receivables are arising from the PRC and all are
from the laminates industry segment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 B #&E R T M T

For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2 —EZ )\F+ - H=1+—HIFF/Z

5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

5b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries are
concentrated on a few counterparties. However,
the credit risk on amount due from fellow
subsidiaries is limited because of the strong
financial background of the fellow subsidiaries.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the
Group monitors and maintains a level of cash
and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation
of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with
loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a
significant source of liquidity. As at 31 December
2008, the Group has available unutilised
bank borrowing facilities of approximately
HK$5,214,490,000 (2007: HK$4,768,142,000).

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities and
derivative financial instruments. For non-derivative
financial liabilities, the table has been drawn up
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows.

For derivative instruments settled on a net basis,
undiscounted net cash (inflows) outflows are
presented.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4r & B 75 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2= —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

5b.

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. &mIR#)
Financial risk management objectives and 5b. HEEREEBEERBCK(E)
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) TEENE R ()
Liquidity and interest risk tables mBE e kA ERBE
Weighted
average Over Over Over Carrying
effective 3 months 1 year 2years Total  amountat
interest Less hbutnotmore hbutnotmore butnotmore undiscounted  31.12.2008
rate than3  thaniyear than2years than5years  cashflows ZBZ)\E
mEFY  months ZERAML  -ENL  WENL #iFR t=A=+-A
ERfiE cERA EFEE-% ETRERE ETEALE NOAREE  <HEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
Fin TR T TR TR TR
At 31 December 2008 RIBE\E
+ZR=t+-H
Non-derivative fancial labiltes — FEATABTREE
Trade and other payables BARAMENE - 447134 89,544 - - 536,678 536,678
Bils payeble EREE - 319,765 - - - o765 319765
Amounts due tofelow subsidires ~ ERFIZNBARRE - 10818 - - - 10818 10818
Bark borowings - variablerate  FATEE- 28 343 297,709 274,338 119728 0794 1489719 1339163
Bank borrowings - variable HEE-28
rate hedged Py ESicy g
by interest rate swap contracts 343 137,308 411,923 621,136 908,370 2,078,737 1,869,231
1,212,734 715,805 740864 1706314 4436717 4075655
Derivatves - net settement PATE-£EFE
Commodty forward contracts BmEHad = (2634) - - - (2634) 2454)
Foreign cunency forward contracts ~ SMEREIAH) - (72) (282) - - (354) (318)
Interest rate swap conrects filEa i = 2,48 733 10275 16977 37097 3,273
(260) 7,057 10275 16977 34,049 32,501
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 75 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2= —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. emMTHR =)
5b. Financial risk management objectives and 5b. HXRAMEBEEEREE (&)

policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued) RBE LS ()

Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued) RBES RFIERBK(A)
Weighted
average Over Over Over Carrying
effective 3 months 1 year 2years Total  amountat
interest Less butnotmore butnotmore butnotmore undiscounted  31.12.2007

rate than3  thaniyear than2years than5years  cashflows ZBZLE

migFy  months ZEBME  -EME  WENL #8 +-A=1-A
ERiE ZERRM EFEE-F BTEERE BF@ELE REREEH  CBEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TR T TR TR TR

At 31 December 2007 B-EEBtE

tZRZt-R
Non-crivative francial labilties A4 51REE
Trade and other payables BARAMERER - 564,719 30480 - - 595,199 505,199
Bills payable S = 561,807 39,160 - - 600,967 600,967
Amounts due to felow subsidiaries ~ ERRZIEBAAZE - 4042 - - - 4,042 4,042
Bakborowings - varabe e S7EE- 28 53 41822 O4TSH  6M5Y 2383610 3681153 3210096

1,648,810 304,39 644,637 2383619 4,881,361 4,410,304

Derivatives - net setement (TATA-£E%E
Commodity forward contracts AmEHaH (1) - - - B12) (368)
Foreign currency forward contracts ~ SNEEEIA#) - (16) (87) (3) - (106) (65)

(38) @) 53) - w8) 1153)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= & B iR &R Mt
For the year ended 31 December 2008 &t —FEZE N\ F+_—-H=+—HI F/F

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. emT A=
5c.  Fair value 5c. 2¥{#E
The fair value of financial assets and financial M EERVIEABEZ AT ERZIA
liabilities are determined as follows: THIEEE :
° the fair value of other financial assets and . BELTRES ZEEBER -

financial liabilities (excluding derivative
instruments) is determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models
based on discounted cash flow analysis
using prices from observable current
market transactions as input; and

o the fair value of other derivative instruments °

are measured at fair value by reference
to the valuation provided by counterparty
financial institutions for these instruments.

BTRBSRENN - EX
HiM B EERMBAE
(TBRETETIR)ZAF
B FRASRENNER
BRMSERHCH 2 BRIE

HiTETARFEDRS
ERETRAZHFT ISR
BREZMHER  BAHE

EE

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts BERA  NHEHEKAZENGE
of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded M RR M BEEERMGAE Y
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial EEmMEEE N FEERE °

statements approximate their fair values.

6. REVENUE 6. - 1]
Revenue represents the amounts received and receivable SEHEAEBRSEFEE QEHINEPH
by the Group from the sales of goods and drilling services &5 RIRHEE LIRS AT UL X FE Uk & 28R
provided to outside customers, net of discounts, returns W R ERAAREERESY T ¢
and sales related taxes, for each year is analysed as
follows:
2008 2007
—ETN\F —ETTLF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Sales of goods HEED 9,888,396 10,206,162
Drilling services LIRS 239,368 220,621
10,127,764 10,426,783
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 44 B #& R T M T

For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2= —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

7. GEOGRAPHICAL AND BUSINESS 7.
SEGMENTS
Geographical segments
The Group principally operates in the PRC with revenue
and profits derived mainly from its operations in the PRC.
An analysis of segment assets and capital additions by
geographical area in which the assets are located has not
been presented as the Group’s assets are substantially
located in the PRC.

The additional analysis of the Group’s revenue by
geographical market, based on geographical location of

R R 5

& 2 5

AEETFZETERLERR  2X8 i
MEBRBPEEY - ARAEEAFHD
MEBEEMRTE S BIREEMELE

WD PEEREARS

EIRDHT

REFER  AEBRBEEP AR
T 35 3 35 SR 8 0 2 & R Y FR SN 0 A a0

customers, for each year is as follows: T
2008 2007
—EENF T F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TH#T FAT
PRC = 9,555,219 9,566,919
Other Asian countries Hfb MBI 423,839 675,821
Europe BOM 98,562 128,319
America =M 50,144 55,724
10,127,764 10,426,783
Business segments E R
No business segment analysis is shown as more than HRAEBEEIO% 2 EEXEBEERIEE
90% of the Group’s principal business activities is the BINER RAEBEER - ML EEB S HBD
sales of laminates and related products. 7 o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4r & B 75 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2= —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

8. OTHER INCOME 8. Htulg A
2008 2007
—ETN\F —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FATT
Other income comprises: Ha A BFE :
Rental income AE U A 12,147 7,738
Gain on fair value changes of REYENFEES
investment properties 2 Wies 1,468 317
Gain on fair value changes of SNERERS A A A
foreign currency forward contracts FaE) 2 Was 318 86
Interest income on bank deposits RITIF A B WA 21,871 30,559
Net exchange gain PE W U %8 558 9,157 29,547
Others Hih 3,424 1,384
48,385 69,631
9. FINANCE COSTS . RRHAF
2008 2007
—EENEF —ETLEF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET BT
Interest on bank borrowings wholly ARAFAEHESR
repayable within five years ZIRITRER A 109,915 169,025
Other finance charges HigEEH - 3,177
109,915 172,202
Release of hedging reserve e 2 B E 6,138 =
Fair value changes of interest rate JESNHRFR 2 B =42 HR
swap contracts not designated RN TEEE)
for hedging purpose - (1,054)
116,053 171,148
Less: Interest capitalised B BAEF B - (3,012)
116,053 168,136

Borrowing costs capitalised during the year ended 31 REBEZZTLF+_A=+—HBLFE
December 2007 arose on the general borrowing pool and A BREEBERATTR—REERE
are calculated by applying a capitalisation rate of 5% to H o WARBREERS 2 B &%t

expenditures on qualifying assets. Ho
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= & B iR &R M5+
For the year ended 31 December 2008 &t —FEZE N\ F+_—-H=+—HI F/F

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. PR
2008 2007
ZESENEF ZETLHF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THT FHIT
The amount comprises: HEE
Hong Kong Profits Tax BERAMFH
Charge for the year REEHIEZ 8,254 1,644
Underprovision in previous years BEFEREDE 368 -
8,622 1,644
Taxation arising in other jurisdictions HAb AR 2 IR
Charge for the year REEHIAZ H 66,025 134,315
Overprovision in previous years B FERERE (1,454) (4,558)
64,571 129,757
Deferred taxation RIETRIE
Credit for the year (Note 20) IR (Bﬁ%fzo) (2,820) (2,175)
Attributable to change in tax rate MREH) & 93 =
(2,727) (2,175)
70,466 129,226

On 26 June 2008, the Legislative Council of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region passed the Revenue
Bill 2008 which reduced corporate profits tax rate from
17.5% to 16.5% effective from the year of assessment
2008/2009. The effect of such decrease has been
reflected in measuring the current tax for the year ended
31 December 2008 and the deferred tax balance has
also been adjusted to reflect the change in tax rate. Hong
Kong Profits Tax was calculated at 17.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for the year ended 31 December 2007.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the
rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

RZZBZENFASNAZ+B - &ERFH
TTLBZE_L/‘/E BT N\FYA D
BR) ARANGEHEEHI17.5%AEE
16.5% HZZTZEN =% Ym%mﬁ
EREX ETHATEERVMEHZE
%%)\i-ﬁ-:ﬂ:-&——lﬂﬂ:i&%ﬁlﬁiz
FE  RERIEASNE AR - URE
METHANTE - HE-_TTLF+=
A=+ —BUEFERZEBFNEHT
RIAFTERB R AW IR17.5% 2 FLEF
;rg:o

Hit RDAE R 2 BIRTH R A DA R
AR ERGTE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 44 B #&E R T MIsE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2= —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 10.
On 16 March 2007, the PRC promulgated the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“New Law”) by Order No. 63 of the President of the PRC.

On 6 December 2007, the State Council of the PRC issued
Implementation Regulations of the New Law. Under the

New Law and Implementation Regulations, the Enterprise & 45) -

Income Tax rate for certain subsidiaries in the PRC was
reduced from 33% to 25% from 1 January 2008 onwards.

Taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit before
taxation as follows:

FRBMEAZ ()
R-ZZLF=F+"B  PERMGSD
ZFARANMBEIESESR(TEAR
HMBERERFBOEIFHBE]) - 1
“ETLEF+ZANRE - PEEKRR
M BOEEREIRD - RFBUE R E M
—ET)N\F-HA—HE  #EHR
RETRRFENHBRTZHEEH
33% I ZE25% °

88

ATg

REE 2 FIRERTB RSN 2 HRRNT -

2008 2007
—EENE T
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#T FAET
Profit before taxation MR B BT A 1,321,136 2,054,835
Tax charge at the domestic income LAE HFT1S 7 E25%
tax rate of 25% (2007: 33%) —TTHF : 33%)
(Note a) FrE 2 BHIES T (fisEa) 330,284 678,096
Tax effect of expenses not LA IE T = AR E A
deductible for tax purpose TR TGe 27,176 42,706
Tax effect of income not taxable MAIET 5 HERTUA
for tax purpose 2R (24,009) (46,468)
Overprovision in previous years BAEFEBRERE (1,086) (4,558)
Tax effect of tax holiday (Note b) SRR B 2 (Mistb) (31,254) (104,200)
Tax effect of tax losses RIERBIBEE
not recognised B 9,855 10,241
Utilisation of tax losses previously B FH S AR AE R
not recognised THIEEE (5,527) (3,655)
Effect of different tax rates of REM RLEER =
subsidiaries operating in other KL B AR ZTE
jurisdictions/areas MR 22 (65,448) (108,944)
Tax exempted profit (Note ¢) N e B s A (MtsEc) (169,618) (333,992)
Decrease in opening deferred HEAHRERDSI B2
tax assets resulting from FURERIREE
decrease in applicable tax rate VAN 93 -
Tax expense for the year RFEE 2 MEHAS 70,466 129,226
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 44 B #& R T M T

For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2= —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

10.

11.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

FRBMBAZ ()

Notes: P& -

(a) The domestic income tax rate of 25% (2007: 33%) represents (@) BTSRRI ER25%( — T F : 33%)I5A
the PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate of which the Group’s EEAIDESFEIE 2 PEDEMESH -
operations are substantially based.

(o) Pursuant to relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, certain (b) REPEMBEREER - AREETHEH
subsidiaries of the Company in the PRC are exempted from PRC BRA A B EERNFE (BE s A
Enterprise Income Tax for two years starting from the first profit- ZREEIE) BT E N ER MR
making year in which profits exceed any carried forward tax Fris®i - EE=FMEHEERE250% ([ &
losses followed by a 50% reduction in the income tax rate in the D) - ZSMBARNZAZRFREBEN —-Z
following three years (“Tax Holiday”). The Tax Holiday enjoyed by ——FsZBlfEm °
these subsidiaries will expire on or before 2012.

(© Profits arising from certain subsidiaries of the Company in areas (© ARTAREREBAIMNE 2 Z THEA
other than PRC and Hong Kong are exempted from profits tax. RIFTE & 2 s N E R R A TS -

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 11. XFEERH

2008 2007
ZEENEF T LF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHT FAT

Profit for the year has been arrived REE A B &4k

at after charging (crediting): (ZTA)LARIER -
Depreciation of properties, E =N

plant and equipment HEITE 719,143 564,618
Release of prepaid lease payments TE R EFRIERE D 4,712 4,198

723,855 568,816

Net exchange gain bE 5 Uk 2 55

—included in cost of sales — 5T ASHERAR (47,517) (37,642)

—included in other income — T A AU A (9,157) (29,547)

(56,674) (67,189)

Auditor’s remuneration = EREM BN & 3,000 3,000
Cost of inventories sold BEEFEZRAR 7,008,921 6,367,378
Impairment loss recognised ME 5 KE A EIERK

on trade and other receivables R B IEREE

(see Note 23) (RFIsE23) 8,101 19,854
Gain on fair value changes of commodity 74 iE B4 49N F(E & &)

forward contracts (included in cost ZUEs (GEASHERA)

of sales) (2,454) (368)
Loss on disposal and write off of HE RMEME - BE &

properties, plant and equipment R EE 608 896
Total staff costs, including directors’ BT KAAE B3

emoluments (see Note 12) E=M2 (RHE12) 381,940 332,200
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 75 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2 —EZ )\F+ - H=1+—HIFF/Z

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 12. EER{EEd¢

EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable were as follows:

(a) EEME

EffsENZBMEmT

2008 2007

—EENF —ETF

HK$°000 HK$’000

TFHT T

Salaries and other benefits e MEMBET 12,758 12,274
Contributions to retirement RGBT 2T

benefits scheme 492 478
Performance related incentive TERIBERFIA

payment 42,050 59,220

Total emoluments [T stel 55,300 71,972

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the

directors were as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2008
BEZZZ)\E+ACT-ALEE

ENSENEESZMESNT -

Cheung  Cheung  Cheung Lam  Cheung Chan Zhou Lo Chan Chan Leung Mok
Kwok Kwok Kwok Ka Ka Sau Liu Pei Ka  Charnwut Yue Kwong, Tai Yiu Keung,
Wa  Keung Ping Po Ho Chi Min Feng Leong  Bemard  Michael Chiu Peter Total
KEE REE 2 REF HEN BRR WRR BW  RBué BEXR 0 MER  MEx  BEE RaEM &kt
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$000 HKS000 HKS'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$000 HKS000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
Tén Tén TEr TEr TEr TEr TR TR TR FEn FEn @ TEn @ TET TR
Fees e - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Other emoluments: ~ EAbH&
Selaresand other ~ F4 Rt
benefts & 2,300 2,078 2,078 1,781 m 703 604 557 1,165 180 180 180 180 12,758
Contibutionsto ~ RAERIEHEI
refirement i3k
benefts scheme 9 8 89 76 3 30 % 2 3% - - - - 492
Performance related  T{ERE£E
incentive payment 5B 9,500 9,500 9,500 9,500 1,625 1,625 400 400 - - - - - 42050
Totalemouments  E{&£% 11,899 11661 11667 11,357 2,430 2,358 1,028 980 1,200 180 180 180 180 55300
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %4

For the year ended 31 December 2008 &t2 —FEZE N\ F+—-H=+—HI F/Z

B PR MR

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 12. EEREE#ME ~)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) BEEfME (2)
Year ended 31 December 2007
BE_FELEA=1-ALLER
Cheung  Cheung  Cheung Lam  Cheung Chen Zhou Lo Chan Chan Leung Mok
Kwok Kiwok Kwok Ka Ka Sau L Pei Ka  Chamwut Yue Kwong, Tai YiuKeung,
Wa Keung Ping Po Ho Chi Min Feng leong  Bemard  Michael Chiy Peter Total
FEE  FER  FEY  WKE R5% RAE e AE  Bxn  RER Rk 2EE Bl it
HK$000  HK$'000 HKS000  HK$000 HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000 HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
Tér Thr Tér TEr TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr T T TEr  TEr  TEr  TEn
Fees e - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Other emoluments: A% :
Selaresandother 4 Rt
benefts &l 2,300 2,078 2,078 1,781 673 703 584 482 875 180 180 180 180 12274
Conroutionsto~~ RéxiEHIzHEI
retirement benefits 3
scheme 9 8 89 76 30 30 2 19 2 = = = = 418
Performance related  T{ERBEE
Incentive payment 5B 13,850 13,000 13,620 13,000 2225 2225 700 600 - - - - - 59,220
Totalemoluments  E£4% 16,249 15,161 15,787 14,857 2928 2,958 1,307 1,101 904 180 180 180 180 71,972
Note:  The performance related incentive payment is MizE: THERBRBRBEDZEMEEE
determined with reference to the operating results, IBERE - AARBRRERMIS
individual performance and comparable market HIRET -
statistics during both years.
No directors waived any emoluments in the years (E_TTN\F+A=F+—HK
ended 31 December 2008 and 31 December —EELFF+ZRA=1+T—HLF
2007. B BEEERELAME -
(b) Employees’ emoluments (b) EEMS

For the years ended 31 December 2007 and
31 December 2008, all of the five highest paid
employees are directors.

During both years, no emoluments were received
or receivable by the Directors or the Group’s five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join

or upon joining the Group or as compensation for

loss of office.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 434

For the year ended 31 December 2008 &t —FEZE N\ F+_—-H=+—HI F/F

13.

92

B IR MR

DIVIDENDS 13. &R
2008 2007
—EENF T F
HK$°000 HK$’'000
THT FAT
Dividends paid BRI ALE
Interim dividend of HK12 cents hEIA S
(2007: HK10 cents) FRRE mAR1 2754
per ordinary share == To): Z1TD) 360,000 300,000
Final dividend for 2007 of T FERAKRE
HK20 cents per ordinary share iH @HXZO/’%M
(2007: no final dividend for 2006) —TTF
—EERFRE
REAAR ) 600,000 -
960,000 300,000
Dividend proposed EERE
Proposed final dividend EEAARE
of HK10 cents (2007: HK20 cents) FRAEE BAZ 107
per ordinary share “EBEEF : 20/(L) 300,000 600,000
The final dividend of HK10 cents per ordinary share has BEreERRERARSERTA
been proposed by the Directors and is subject to the BRAOPEAL - MEZERFAR R B R E

approval by the shareholders of the Company in the

forthcoming annual general meeting.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 44 B #& R T M T

For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2= —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

14.

15.

EARNINGS PER SHARE 14.

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable
to the equity holders of the Company is based on the
following data:

BERRT
ARRRHEFEAREERERBFET
SIBEEH

2008 2007
—ZT)\F —ETLEF
HK$°000 HK$’'000
THT FAT
Earnings for the purpose of calculating  zFEEARGIRZF
basic earnings per share ZEH 1,203,804 1,813,269
Number of shares
B E
2008 2007
ZEENE —ETLF
’000 ‘000
¥ +
Number of ordinary shares for the STEERNEREATR
purpose of calculating basic R e
earnings per share 3,000,000 3,000,000

No diluted earnings per share has been presented as the
Company does not have any dilutive potential ordinary
shares.

BHRARR L EABREEENE 2 LR
B BULIE 25 B AN o

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. REYE
HK$'000
FHBT
FAIR VALUE NFHE
At 1 January 2007 R=—EZE+F—H—H 40,220
Increase in fair value ANEEEE 317
At 31 December 2007 and RZZBEZ+F+-_A=+—HK
1 January 2008 —ZEENF—-H—H 40,637
Increase in fair value NIEE M 1,468
At 31 December 2008 RZEENF+_A=+—H 42,005
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 &t —FEZE N\ F+_—-H=+—HI F/F

15.

94

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

At 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2008, the fair
value of the Group’s investment properties had been
arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on that
date by Messrs. Chung, Chan & Associates, independent
qualified valuers not connected with the Group. Messrs.
Chung, Chan & Associates are members of the Royal
Institute of Chartered Surveyors. The valuation was
arrived at by reference to market evidence of transaction
prices for similar properties.

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes
are measured using the fair value model and are classified
and accounted for as investment properties.

B IR MR

15.

wEME =)
R-BELF+_A=+—HAE=_FFN
FT_HA=1+—8  AEBREVEZR
FEDNREAKBEYVEBEZBYA
RAEMEETRZAETHECEEE
ﬁ(  BETRAREERFFAEMESS
} o ERBREDNZERUNERSHEEZ

m%ﬁ%%m

AEERRIE S K E A EELAR B &7**
MOBAEZMBNERERS - BFRRAF
BERAFE - YHBRRINEREDE -

The carrying value of investment properties shown above A EREMERRERE
Comprises:
2008 2007
—ETN\F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THT FHIT
Property interests situated ETHHENNEBREE 2
in Hong Kong under: Wt
Medium-term lease FRERTEAY 3,840 4,047
Property interests situated BT HIFALRE B AN
outside Hong Kong under: R R
Medium-term lease R HAFAAY 12,440 11,960
Long lease KHIFEAY 25,725 24,530
38,165 36,490
42,005 40,537
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #= & B iR R M1zt
For the year ended 31 December 2008 # & —FEZEN\FE+ - H=1+—HILFZF

16. PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. ¥ - BERRIE

Properties,

Furniture, plant and

Buildings fixtures equipment

for  Leasehold  Plantand and Motor under
ownuse improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles construction Total

it i RE EENR

BR#F  WREE RERAE  RGA RE  WRRER ait
HKSO0D  HKBOOD  HKSODD  HKBOOD  HKSOOO  HKSOOO  HKSO0O

TR TR TR TR TRT TR TRT

COosT

At1 January 2007

Exchange adjustments

Additions

Disposals and write off

Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Note 32 (c) & d)

Reclassications

At 31 December 2007 and
1 January 2008

Exchange adjustments

Additions

Disposals and write off

Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Note 32(a) & o))

Reclassifications

At 31 December 2008

DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
At January 2007

Exchange adjustments

Provided for the year

Eliminated on disposals and write off

At 31 December 2007 and
1 January 2008
Exchange adjustments
Provided for the year
Eliminated on disposals and write off

At 31 December 2008

CARRYING VALUE
At 31 December 2008

At 31 December 2007

Ak
W-F5tF-A-A
B2

hE

HE R
KEHBAR
(BrsE320)R(d))

YENERR
(Ht32mRb)

BB

RZZENETZA=1-H

FERAE

RE5t5-A-A

A

KEERE

R AR

HER TR
R-FENETZA=1-H

FEf
R-EENET-A=1-H

R-EELET-A=1-A

812428 1988 47%441 106,264 60,209 20062 5,998,392

1959 - 7781 351 46745 439
6,0% B0 2007 1148 50 1098757 1364979
7013) W) [mTe) (M) [15916) - (iom0)
- - 408 448 811 - %
977 S 19 - e i6T) -

862,023 2067 5,667,668 137929 56,187 1,008408 7,734,767

45,813 = 329,407 8,146 3,066 62,040 448472
5617 = 386,770 23,089 4440 655801 1,075,667
(43824) = (15,370) (5,79) (6,656 ) = (71,646 )

= = 12,883 674 174 110330 124,061
49,223 - 11 24159 - (1250583 -

918,852 2067 7,998,659 188,151 o721 565001 9,311,321

152041 133 1719068 3039 203 - 1933069
83% - 1360 2418 1997 - 13
30297 39 5748 19160 7404 - BpGI8
7013) 0) 0m.)  (0) (63T - )
183,660 1659 231300 5085 B0 - 05851
86% - 2891 16815 -1
19470 56 68 24780 7,019 - T918
(19.325) - ToM)  paw) @) - [@8i0)

2 441 2165 306463 e 02 - 348505

696,411 S 44896 197 19189 5591 5907816

678,363 8B 33458 G0t 280 100843 5152176
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 &t —FEZE N\ F+_—-H=+—HI F/F

16.

17.

96

PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

All the Group’s buildings for own use are situated in the

PRC and held under medium-term leases.

The above items of properties, plant and equipment (other

than those under construction) are depreciated on a

straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Buildings for own use

Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery

Furniture, fixtures and
equipment

Motor vehicles

Over the remaining
unexpired terms of
the leases or fifty years,
whichever is the shorter

Over the remaining
unexpired terms of the
leases or five to ten years,
whichever is the shorter

10 -20%

10-33"5%

20%

PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

All of the Group’s prepaid lease payments are prepaid

for leasehold interest in land outside Hong Kong under

medium-term.

B IR MR

16.

17.

W% - BME R =)

AEBERIMERBETHARPE - Wid
HBORA -

Eatmz - BER&REEE (BREZIER
HNIRLAT FE LR AE REAEGHRINE -

HREF R LRFIsRRTHH
FHS A+ F
(ABIEE B%E)

FiEEOkES REBAELRFIRRTLHH

=& FEHYAE+E
(AESEE AE)

BE RS 10—20%

RIFEA - EE 10—331/.%

NG

RE 20%

AFHEERER

NEE 2B NBERE S AEBAIINE

Sz PHIBEOENEEHRA -

2008 2007
—ETN\F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET FAT

Analysed for reporting purposes as: TR E DWW ¢
Current asset MBNEE 4,712 4,199
Non-current asset FEMENEE 266,993 193,187
271,705 197,386
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 44 B #& R T M T

For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2= —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

18.

19.

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 18. AHHERE
2008 2007
—EEN\F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THT FAT
Unlisted equity investments JEETIRAERE 19,800 19,800
The above unlisted investments represent a 10% equity i3 ETRIR BN BRI 2 AL A E 8
interest in unlisted equity securities issued by private entity FTE41T3E E MR AEH 2 10% %4 + %5
established in the PRC and is engaged in hotel operation. EEBNEREEL BRATEZEE
It is measured at cost less impairment at each balance HEBEEEXN  BFEEERBAREANET
sheet date because the range of reasonable fair value HHENFE  #HFFELMERERSEEE
estimates is so significant that the Directors are of the RRAHBRRERSE -
opinion that its fair values cannot be measured reliably.
NON-CURRENT DEPOSITS 19. FEREETR

Non-current deposits represent deposits paid for the
acquisition of properties, plant and equipment, and the
deposits will not be realised within twelve months from
the balance sheet date. Accordingly, the amounts were
included in the non-current assets. The deposits can
only be refundable to the Group when the vendors fail to
deliver the assets to the Group within the timeframe as
agreed with the Group. The Directors expected that the
assets will be delivered to the Group within the next two
years.

FRDFICEIBEYE - BELRED
X2 - RER R EEE BEFH 1218
ARTEERIR - Bt - ZEHRAT AR
HEE - RFFEBE T AREEEAEE
BENEREAREEIN TAKER - 77
RME - EEEM  ZFBEERNARER
FARNTAEE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2= —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

20.

98

DEFERRED TAXATION
The following are the major deferred tax assets and
liabilities recognised and movements thereon during the

20. BREERIR
TRARBRBRIARRRBACD R
TEREEHBEERABURER 2 &

current and prior reporting periods: &) :
Revaluation

of properties Others Total

MEER Hith &kt

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FAT FAT T

At 1 January 2007 RZEZ+F—F—H - 543 543
Credit for the year REEREM - (2,175) (2,175)

At 31 December 2007 and RZEELE+-A=1+—H

1 January 2008 RZZZ\F-A—-H - (1,632) (1,632)
Charge (credit) for the year REE S (Bm) 316 (3,136) (2,820)
Effect of change in tax rate MEREE & - 93 93
At 31 December 2008 RZEZNFE+-_A=+—H 316 (4,675) (4,359)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances

AT 85 S8 #3RE B & A L BT

for financial reporting purposes: BRI -
2008 2007
ZEENEF —TTLF
HK$°000 HK$’000
TFHERT FHT
Deferred tax assets EIEFIEE B 4,675 1,632
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEE R (316) =
4,359 1,632

At the balance sheet date, the Group has unused tax
losses of HK$73,847,000 (2007: HK$56,535,000)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams. All tax losses can be carried forward
indefinitely.
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 &t —FEZE N\ F+_—-H=+—HI F/F

20.

21.

B IR MR

DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 20. EBERE%)
At the balance sheet date, the Group also has REEH  ARRIEFR TR - #
unrecognised deferred tax asset of HK$6,833,000 (2007: AREBREERE D HEERAZE SR
Nil) in relation to loss on cash flow hedge recognised in ENAEEEBZABRECHIELE
hedging reserve due to the unpredictability of future profit 6,833,000 TL(ZZZ+4F : )8REF) °
streams.
Under the New Law of the PRC, a withholding tax is TRMBERTE BZEEN\F—-HF—H
imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits # - A B A A A ZE B BB A BT ER
earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 BUs FIl i Bk 2 I S EUTE R EL - B E
onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided for —EENFF+_A=1t—HIEFE &K
in the consolidated financial statements in respect of RAELRF BB ARE T NF
temporary difference attributable to profits earned by —A—HERRBRZEGRMNZBREER
the Company’s PRC subsidiaries since 1 January 2008 421,084,000/ 7T + A& B AR ZERIE
amounting to HK$421,084,000 for the year ended 31 REEUBRERIELEE  FERAEEH
December 2008 as the Group is able to control the timing Aol O o =5 R - B ARG
of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is ERAAfe e Al Bk B [a o
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
GOODWILL 21. &8
HK$’000
T
CARRYING VALUE AREE
At 1 January 2007 R_ZTZ+F—H—H =
Arising on acquisition of a subsidiary U B — RS B B A R EE A
(see Note 32 (d)) (RBaE32(d) 238
At 31 December 2007, 1 January 2008 and R-ZBTLF+_A=+—H "
31 December 2008 —EENF-A—HK
—EENF+A=+—H 238
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2= —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

21.

22.

GOODWILL (continued) 21. Em8 )
Particulars regarding impairment testing on goodwill BREWE B ARIMEA ZBE 2R
arising from acquisition of a subsidiary disclosed as BEAEFEEENT
follows:
As explained in Note 7, the Group uses business WMAAMT T PR - REEAER S EMER
segments as its primary segment for reporting segment HID B 2 BN I - FhFERIFm
information. For the purposes of impairment testing, S BECOETERBESET E(PYBI)
goodwill has been allocated to the cash generating unit BlEER s B R eEEEU([REEE
(“CGU”) of PVB resins business unit. The carrying amount Bf7]) - DB FPVBEIRERE DN 2R &
of goodwill allocated to the CGU of PVB resins business A4 B2 7B AR E B 4 /238,000 7T
unit is approximately HK$238,000 (2007: HK$238,000). (ZZZ % : 238,00087T) °
The recoverable amount of the PVB resins CGU has PVB#IfE IR & & 4 B 2 AT Uk Bl & FE IR (&
been determined from value-in-use calculation. Goodwill BEEELET  TAHRESERHE
is expected to generate cash flow for indefinite period. EHEESRE AitEEFREE  BeRse
To calculate this, cash flow projections are based on FEBIA KR = A E IR B AT b 2 AR HART I
five year periods financial budgets approved by senior REREE - FREEAEZEZZFER
management. The key assumptions for the value-in-use HABEEFNER ZIFINERIBERS R A
calculations are the budgeted gross margin at a discount 12%(ZFZLF : 10%) K5%(ZFZ+
rate of 12% (2007: 10%) and growth rate of 5% (2007: F:7%) DRZEBUATREREERE
7%), which are determined based on the unit’s past HMBEREHEET - ANIBEEAS
performance and management’s expectations for the Bl EaREREE  RESR
market development. Since the recoverable amount of R RNEEAZEERABTEHRER
the CGU is higher than its carrying amount, the Directors BE °
consider that the carrying value of goodwill at the balance
sheet date is not significantly impaired.
INVENTORIES 22. R
2008 2007
ZETNEF —TTLF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET FHT
Raw materials =g 1,256,688 1,221,514
Work in progress past-Car 314,009 195,005
Finished goods SURY mh 98,237 94,067
1,668,934 1,510,586
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2= —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

23.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 23. B ERHEMEWERRFAEFSRIE
PREPAYMENTS

2008 2007
—EET)I\F —EEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#&T T
Trade receivables B S EIBE 1,762,339 2,460,430
Bills receivables FEU =% 438,944 603,108
Other receivables and prepayments H b FEURBR X KR FB A R IE 179,658 446,507
2,380,941 3,510,045

The Group allows credit periods of up to 120 days,
depending on the products sold, to its trade customers.
The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables at
the balance sheet dates:

AEERTESIREFPZEEHRRER120
B REFAHEEERME - R&EER - B
ZIEBERZ R AHTIAT

2008 2007

ZEE)\FE —EEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

TF#&T T

0 -90 days 0%290H 1,016,067 1,740,770
91 — 180 days 91%2180H 717,130 699,835
Over 180 days 180E A £ 29,142 19,825
1,762,339 2,460,430

All bills receivables of the Group are aged within 90 days
at the balance sheet dates.

Before accepting any new customers, the Group has
an internal credit grading system to assess the potential
customers’ credit quality and the board of Directors
has delegated the management to be responsible for
determination of credit limits and credit approvals for any
customers. Limits and scoring attributed to customers
are reviewed every year. 88% (2007: 80%) of the trade
receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
have the best credit scoring attributable under the credit
grading system used by the Group.

AEEMARKRER R/
BRESHOHZA -

EEMNERHELA - ARERE
ERFEHESFHEER,PZE
REx EFgcAnERERSA
REAEFEEEERBEREER
%o BEZRBRIDBFEH -
88% (—ZT L F : 80%) i H]
SR EZ B 5 YRR E AR KB T
RAZERFRHE 2 &xDERFN

7 e
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2= —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

23.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 23.

PREPAYMENTS (continued)

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance
are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
HK$343,547,000 (2007: HK$484,879,000) which are
past due at the balance sheet date for which the Group
has not provided for impairment loss. The Group does not
hold any collateral over these balances. The average age
of these receivables is 120 days (2007: 120 days).

Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but not
impaired are as follows:

HHRAMBUYRREFAMREA
(42 )

AEEE SRR IR E B IR KRR
42 BR T B 4 343,547,0008 L (—Z T T+
F 1 484,879,000/87T) - REEHE&@
B AEEWERZEREELRERIE
B AEBMZEHRELERF EMIE
o ZERWRR 2 FHRER A120H
(ZZZTL£F :120R8) °

BHEREREZE SRR KRR
™

2008 2007

ZEENE —ETLF

HK$°000 HK$'000

THT FAT

91 — 120 days 91£120H 149,300 234,808
121 - 150 days 121£150H 135,244 185,377
151 - 180 days 1512180H 29,861 44 869
Over 180 days 180H A L 29,142 19,825
343,547 484,879

The Group has provided fully for all receivables that are
past due beyond 240 days because historical experience is
such that these receivables are generally not recoverable.
Allowance on trade receivables aged between 120 and
240 days are made based on estimated irrecoverable
amounts by reference to past default experience and
objective evidences of impairment determined by the
difference between the carrying amount and the present
value of the estimate future cash flow discounted at the
original effective interest rate.

In determining the recoverability of the trade receivables,
the Group monitors any change in the credit quality of
the trade receivables since the credit was granted and up
to the reporting date. The Directors considered that the
Group has no significant concentration of credit risk of
trade and other receivables, with exposure spread over a
number of counterparties and customers.
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2= —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

23.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 23. ¥ S REMEKESZREMNRIE
PREPAYMENTS (continued) (#)
Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts RIREH BT
2008 2007
—EE)\FE —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T
Balance at beginning of the year FEEH 115,322 131,996
Impairment losses recognised on TLE 5 U AR FRHER
trade receivables B EE 8,101 19,854
Amounts written off as uncollectible sy AR aT Uk Bl 2 I8 (1,414) (36,528)
Balance at end of the year FRER 122,009 115,322

Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are
individually impaired trade receivables with an aggregate
balance of HK$122,009,000 (2007: HK$115,322,000)
which have either been placed under liquidation or in
severe financial difficulties. The Group does not hold any

collateral over these balances.

Included in trade and other receivables and prepayments

RIEEEDFEERNBREZE S ERE
P HEE 2 5122,009,0008 L (T E+
& 1 115,322,000 70) * ZEHIBAER
NEANVBREBEET ZHIE - NEEZ
FEAT B EAER R -

B 5 REMEWRR M IENRIABRE T

are the following amounts denominated in a currency NEEERAE BB AINE B E
other than the functional currency of the group entities to Z R
which they relate:
2008 2007
—EENE T F
Amount Amount
&8 B
’000 ‘000
T T
United States Dollars e 58,632 100,571
Japanese Yen H - 56,479
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2= —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

24.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the
Group and short-term bank deposits with an original
maturity of one month or less. At 31 December 2008, the
bank balances and deposits carry interest at the prevailing
market interest rates which range from 0.01% to 3.28%
(2007: 0.18% to 3.40%) per annum.

At 31 December 2008 and 2007, the Group had bank
balances and cash that were not freely convertible or
were subject to exchange controls in the PRC amounting
to approximately HK$870.0 million and HK$650.0 million,
respectively.

Included in bank balances and cash are the following
amounts denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the group entities to which they
relate:

24.

SHITHRBRRE S
RITEREReBEAEEBAEZRER
REHBA—BEAKURZEIRITHE
KeRZEBEZNFF+ZA=+—0 ' R1T
ERR R FIRIRITI IS FFE N F0.01E
E328FE(ZFTtF : 0.18EE3.40F)
B

RIBZNERZZTZLFF+_A=+—
B REENA BB ERRAT R EINE
EHFRR 2 RITERERR D BINR
870,000,00075 7T &2 650,000,000/ 7T ©

RITER LIRS BRETIIASEE LA
ZNBEE B IASNE R EHEZ R

2008 2007

—EENE —ETF

Amount Amount

&8 G|

’000 ’000

T Tt

United States Dollars e 102,881 78,904
Japanese Yen H 835 8,602
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2= —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

25. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) FELLOW 25 [l (f)ERMEATRE
SUBSIDIARIES

2008 2007
—EENEF —TTLF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries  7RENEEIE [ EWKE R
under current assets by E O
— trade nature —EB514E 182,406 391,767
The Group allows credit period normally up to 120 days AKEFHEERTHRRNBAR
for sales to its fellow subsidiaries. The amounts due are ZIEEH—RKZREA1208 - 2%
non-interest bearing, unsecured and aged within 90 days BWFIER RS MEER - AR
at the balance sheet date. HREFREHORZA -
2008 2007
—EENE T F
HK$°000 HK$’'000
THT FAT
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries TEBREBNENRR
under current liabilities )= F/ O
— trade nature —Bo51nE 10,818 4,042
The Group’s non-interest bearing amounts due to fellow i ST AN ) VNI S
subsidiaries have repayment terms of less than 30 days. ZEFEAVHB0H - ZEEMNFUE
The amounts due are non-interest bearing, unsecured ARBRELR  HIRRYAEE
and aged within 90 days at the balance sheet date. HAEH0H 2 A -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 75 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2008 &2 —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

26.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

26. THE&MTIR

2008 2007
—EENF —ETHEF
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
BE =0 BE =

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TRT TAT

Commodity forward contracts ARERHAY 2,454 - 368 =
Foreign currency forward contracts ONEREIE 4 573 255 1,269 1,184
Interest rate swap contracts RIS HE 4 - 35,273 - =
3,027 35,528 1,637 1,184

Analysed for reporting purposes as: RREDTWT :
Current TE 3,027 255 1,637 1,184
Non-current eIk - 35,273 = =
3,027 35,528 1,637 1,184

Cash flow hedges RenmEBHE A

During the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group used
interest rate swap contracts (net quarterly settliement) to
minimise its exposure to certain cash flow changes of its
variable rate bank borrowings by swapping a proportion
of the variable rate borrowings from variable rate to fixed
rate. The terms of these interest rate swap contracts
were negotiated to match with those of the hedged bank
borrowings (i.e. same notional amount of the derivatives
match with principal amounts of bank borrowings, same
currency and same interest rate index). The Directors
consider that the interest rate swap contracts are highly
effective hedging instruments and have designated them
as hedging instruments for hedge accounting purposes.

1 06 Annual Report 2008 Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 B #&E R T M =T

For the year ended 31 December 2008 &2 —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

26.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 26.

(continued)
Cash flow hedges (continued)

The major terms of the interest rate swap contracts are

set out below:

At 31 December 2008

TE®MI Rz

=\
3/

ReRBYHH(E)

MEWIEHNZ ERIEHIT ¢

R=BENF+=A=+—H

Receive
Notional amount Maturity floating Pay fixed
H{E L] Frieig R FriftER
3 contracts of HK$100,000,000 each Within 2 to 3 years HIBOR 2.39% to 2.90%
= %817100,000,0007 T2 & 47 ME=FN BBRITRZERE  2.39EFE2.90E
8 contracts of HK$150,000,000 each Within 2 to 3 years HIBOR 2.37% 10 2.76%
N5 & 17150,000,000/8 T2 & 47 ME=FR EBRITERFE 2.37EF2.762
1 contract of HK$200,000,000 Within 2 to 3 years HIBOR 2.78%
—17200,000,000/ 7.2 & 4J ME=FN BEBRITEFEFE 2.78]E
1 contract of HK$300,000,000 Within 2 to 3 years HIBOR 3.88%
—12300,000,0007 7T.2 & I ME=FN EE i RICIE S/iV-) 3.882

During the year ended 31 December 2008, the hedge
was 80% to 118% effective in hedging the cash flow
exposure to interest rate movements. Fair value losses of
HK$41,411,000 have been deferred in hedging reserve
and are expected to be released to the consolidated
income statement when the hedged interest expense is
charged to profit or loss quarterly.

During the year ended 31 December 2008, an amount
of approximately HK$6,138,000 was transferred from
hedging reserve into profit or loss and was included in the
finance costs in the consolidated income statement.

BE_ZEN\E+-A=+—HILFE -
FEDRF R EEMIR SRR AL HHE
MR B80%ZE118% © AE41,411,00074 7T
ZAFEBEBEREFREERTEERE - I
TBHE G EEHRNT SRR IBS MR
K - PR A e R EE -

BE-—TT /\&E+-B=t+—RAILEE
S 8B40/56,138,000/8 7L i S G A S
13 WHARAUEENRERARN -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 75 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2008 &2 —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

26. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 26.

(continued)

Other derivatives (not under hedge accounting)

During both years, the Group entered into commodity

forward contracts to hedge against part of the Group’s

exposure in copper price fluctuations. At the respective

maturity dates, the contracts are net settled in cash with

the issuer. The major terms of the outstanding contract at

the balance sheet date are as follows:

At 31 December 2008

Contract amount

TE®MI A2

HHT4 T A (IS EHESIER)
RZMEFERN  AEETVEARERE
# o FELAERARE BRI S IR E R E R
o NBEEE - BETAURSEES
HWEFE - REEBR 2RI Z2EHZ
FEBRFAT :

R-BENF+ZA=1+—H

aned
Currency Quantity Maturity Forward price
" BE A EHIE
us$ Copper 500 Metric Tonnes 3 March 2009 Sell at US$3,617/metric tonne
T 500 AWE4f “TTNEF=A=H  HB617ETL/AMEL

At 31 December 2007

Contract amount

R=BZtF+=-A=+—H

aeE
Currency Quantity Maturity Forward price
" BE b | EHIRE
us$ Copper 100 Metric Tonnes 31 January 2008 Buy at US$7,215/metric tonne
ET 1002 WA SR —TT)\F W7,215%7T,/ ABE A
—A=+-~
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 75 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2008 &2 —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

26. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 26. fT4&€mTH %)

(continued)

Other derivatives (not under hedge accounting) HfT4 T H (A FEUEHETHETIR) (£)
(continued)

During both years, the Group entered into foreign REZMEFERN - AEERTZINERIEE
currency forward contracts to hedge against part of the #) o FE DA R & [ /Y 50 0 SNEE R B &L
Group’s exposure in foreign currency fluctuations. At the % o MERZHAAR @ BT ANURSEES
respective maturity dates, the contracts are settled net in H)F8E - MEEA - ZMARIBAZE02
cash with the issuer. The major terms of the outstanding FEBEFRAT ¢

contracts at the balance sheet date are as follows:

At 31 December 2008 R-ZEENEFE+-A=+—H
Notional amount Maturity Forward contract rates
H{E FIRAR BEHeHESE
9 contracts to buy US$1,000,000 each Within 1 year US$1 to HK$7.695
NP EHIEE1,000,000% T2 64 —F A 13570 H.7.69578 7T
9 contracts to sell US$2,000,000 each Within 1 year US$1 to HK$7.695
N ip 85 HE2,000,000% T2 &4 —FA 13570 H.7.69578 7T

At 31 December 2007 R-ZEE2tF+=-A=+—H
Notional amount Maturity Forward contract rates
(i =| FIEAR EatESE
9 contracts to buy US$1,000,000 each Within 1 year US$1 to HK$7.732
NHEMEEE1,000,000ETT 2 & 4 —F A 12T H 77328 7T
12 contracts to buy US$1,000,000 each Within 1 to 2 years US$1 to HK$7.695
+=HEHEEE1,000,000E T2 A 49 —EMFER 1370 H.7.69578 7T
9 contracts to sell US$2,000,000 each Within 1 year US$1 to HK$7.732
N in 8 HE2,000,000% T2 &4 —FA 13ELH7.7327%8 T
12 contracts to sell US$2,000,000 each Within 1 to 2 years US$1 to HK$7.695
+ =5 &% H%52,000,000F L2 A4 —EWER 1257 H.7.69578 7T

The above derivatives are measured at fair value at the FRFTETADNKL2RBREBR S5 ¢ mik

balance sheet date by reference to valuation provided by BREEAMZEIARM 2 HER @ &

counterparty financial institutions for these instruments. NERE ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4r & B 75 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2= —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 27. ESREMEMEREECZE
BILLS PAYABLE

Included in trade and other payables are trade payables of B REMENEKRIRS B A
HK$389,502,000 (2007: HK$467,771,000). The following 389,502,000 % 7t ( = & T £ &F
is an aged analysis of trade payables at the balance sheet 467,771,000/ 70) N E S ERBRFK - &
dates. EREBRRAEE B 2Rk DTN T ¢
2008 2007
—ETN\F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
0 -90 days 0£90H 299,958 413,504
91 — 180 days 91%180H 59,123 33,669
Over 180 days 180H A £ 30,421 20,598
389,502 467,771
All bills payable of the Group are aged within 90 days at AEEMERENREBECRRYAEEBRE
the balance sheet dates. RI90B Z A °
Included in trade and other payables and bills payable are B S REMENERRESZEBETT
the following amounts denominated in a currency other NEEERAE BB AN E
than the functional currency of the group entities to which ZREE
they relate:
2008 2007
—ETNF ZETF
Amount Amount
&8 Kok
’000 000
T Tt
United States Dollars T 8,327 31,851
Japanese Yen H 1,104,212 255,902
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 44 B #& R T M T

For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2= —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

28. BANK BORROWINGS 28. #MITESH
2008 2007
—EENF T F
HK$°000 HK$’000
THT FAT
Unsecured: AT
Bank loans IRITER 2,914,376 2,797,038
Trust receipt loans =FESIEE R 294,018 413,058
3,208,394 3,210,096
Carrying amount repayable: AR T HIEE
AREE
Within one year —FR 1,078,370 636,634
More than one year, but not —F LA BTN BBRF
exceeding two years 676,117 584,614
More than two years but not MEN HETBB=F
more than three years 1,106,840 584,614
More than three years but not =F P HETBBYF
more than four years 247,047 1,404,234
More than four years but not A HBETBiERF
more than five years 100,020 -
2,130,024 2,573,462
Total Saf 3,208,394 3,210,096

Bank borrowings at 31 December 2008 are variable-
rate borrowings which carry interest ranging from
HIBOR+0.5% to HIBOR+2.0% (2007: HIBOR+0.5% to
HIBOR+1.0%) per annum.

The range of effective interest rates (which are also
equal to contracted interest rates) on the Group’s bank
borrowings is 2.1% to 4.6% (2007: 3.9% to 5.4%) per
annum.

RZTETN\E+_A=+—8 - RITEE
RZEBZEBE  FHENFEBRITAZE
FEMOSEEI20EAZF(ZEZT L4 -
BARRITREZEFRSIM0SEZENMI.0FE) ©

REBRTEE 2 ERFE(TRERFTAF
K)GEENFEANE21EZ46E(ZFTT
+F : 3OER54E)TF -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4r & B 75 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2= —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

28. BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 28. SMITEE=)
Included in bank borrowings are the following amounts RITEERBETINEREEHEE 26
denominated in a currency other than the functional EEINEEESTE 2 75 ¢

currency of the group entities to which they relate:

2008 2007
—ZT)\F —ETLEF
Amount Amount
& i}
’000 ’000
T T
United States Dollars =T 11,798 29,562
Japanese Yen H - 50,700
29. SHARE CAPITAL 20. W&
THE COMPANY ARF
Issued and
Authorised fully paid
BE BERTRAE
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
B8 E &8 R E &8
'000 HK$'000 ‘000 HK$'000
T THI T THT
Ordinary shares of FREE0105T
HK$0.10 each : ZERR
At 1 January 2007, RZZZL5-A-H"
31 December 2007 —EEHF+-A=t—HEK
and 31 December 2008 “TEN\FE+-A=+—H 20,000,000 2,000,000 3,000,000 300,000
30. SPECIAL RESERVES 30. IFRUGENE
Special reserve of the Group represents (i) the difference AEB 2 ERFEEA)HLEHRBARZE
between the net asset value of the acquired subsidiaries EFEER ST NFETEESARS
and the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued WHEMEAT 2 AN A RIRDEERME 2 Y
for the acquisition at the time of the group reorganisation ZR o k(i) —BERPERIHEER B A
in 2006 and (i) the reduction in the registered capital of a AIHIR < AR EA o

wholly-owned subsidiary established in the PRC.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 44 B #& R T M T

For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2= —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

31.

SHARE OPTIONS

The share option scheme of the Company (the “Scheme”)
was approved by the shareholders of the Company and
the shareholders of KCHL on 18 May 2007 and 25 June
2007 respectively. The Scheme has taken effect after
obtaining the approval from the Listing Committee of the
Stock Exchange on 6 July 2007.

The Scheme would be valid for a period of ten years. The
Board may, at its discretion, grant options to subscribe
for shares in the Company to eligible participants who
contribute to the long-term growth and profitability of
the Company and include (i) any employee or proposed
employee (whether full-time or part-time and including any
executive Director), consultants or advisers of or to the
Company, any of its subsidiaries or any entity (“Invested
Entity”) in which the Group holds an equity interest; (ii)
any non-executive Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors), any of its subsidiaries or any
Invested Entity; (iii) any supplier of goods or services to
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (iv) any
customer of the Group or any Invested Entity; (v) any
person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to the Group or any
Invested Entity; and (vi) any shareholder of any member
of the Group or any Invested Entity or any holder of any
securities issued by any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity.

The subscription price of the Company’s share in respect
of any option granted under the Scheme must be at
least the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of
the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant of the option, which
must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price
of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
option; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares of the
Company.

31.

B
ARABEREBZBEIZRRERD IR =
ZZHERA+NRAR-_ZELFERA
“t+hBHERARZELBARESE
(T%5HE]) - A BN TR EF AR
HESHIMETZEB@HtER  BRELE
o -

e

ZABIEMMATE - EEEURBEAS
BRSEATREATRBERRRARND ZE
EEEE - GER2EALTAHARAR
BEIERRBVNBERZAL  BREOAR
A - HEMMBA RS EAAEERE K
BeER(HRREER ) 2 E[ES H
EREE(TmEBaGRE - BeiEEHn
TEF) - AABEFRER  (EMIERTT
EXE(BREBIFNTES) - AQRIEMR
B A RIS EAIRIR A B - (i) TR
SEEMKE ARSI E B BREH
Bk iR AR ¢ (iv) NEE ST
BREBRZEMEF « (WERRAEERK
EAIBARE BRI MM - FEREMRK
MEZALHER - R(vi)AEBEEMK
B ARSI E B Z EMRREA
SEEMMKE R R SRAI IR E B3
TEARFZFHBA °

EARIRZ AT B 2 BB AT I
ARRBN 2 RIERBELAETEIER A
TREER  (ARERONELERER
HEB(LERERH) ZBRMTERE
RATBRHE : (AR ABRORERES
BRERL AU LAEXR 2BIAE
B#RERMBEHEZFHE  Ri)EAR
A ZEE °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 44 B #&E R T MIsE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2= —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

31.

SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

The option may be accepted by a participant within
28 days from the date of the offer for the grant of the
option upon the payment of a consideration of HK$1.
An option may be exercised at any time during a period
to be determined and notified by the Directors to each
grantee, and in the absence of such determination, from
the date upon which the offer for the grant of the option
is accepted but shall end in any event not later than 10
years from the date of grant of the option subject to the
provisions for early termination thereof. The Directors
may, at their absolute discretion, fix any minimum period
for which an option must be held, any performance
targets that must be achieved and any other conditions
that must be fulfilled before the options can be exercised
upon the grant of an option to a participant.

The total number of shares of the Company which may
be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Company (excluding, for this purpose, options lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Scheme and any
other share option scheme of the Company) must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of shares of
the Company in issue as at the date of approval of the
Scheme.

The maximum number of shares of the Company which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and
any other share option scheme of the Company must not
exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time.

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to
be issued upon exercise of the options granted (including
both exercised and outstanding options) to each
participant in any 12-month period must not exceed 1%
of the share capital of the Company then in issue unless
approved by the shareholders of the Company and KCHL
in general meetings.

No share option was granted pursuant to the Scheme
since its adoption.
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Mz BRI - WINMEAIER T NERE T
MBAER I B AR T2 B RIE - A
RZTE R FEIEEXFAR - EFA 2
BERBRSEALETETEMEL 2 EE
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e e
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BEARR NI EZAEE A S BTN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 44 B #& R T M T

For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2= —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

32. ACAQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 32. IESMRELAT
@) On 1 January 2008, the Group acquired 100% (@) RZZEZENF—A—H  T&EEMR
equity interest in a company from an independent —RBEIUE=FTWE-—RQFND
third party, of which the principal activity of its EBIEHE - Z AR B AR EER
subsidiary is manufacture and distribution of ERERDHETERME - BN
industrial raw materials, for a cash consideration B /51,941,000 7T o It I8 4 B8 LA
of HK$1,941,000. This acquisition has been BB eA5 8 ot IaUEE T EE
accounted for using the purchase method. No ERE -
goodwill arise as a result of the acquisition.
The net assets acquired in the acquisition are as WHEFTHE A 2 BEESHEAT ¢
follows:
Acquiree’s
carrying amount
before combination
and fair value
WUEE S RS BFR
ZIEEERLFE
HK$'000
FAT
Net assets acquired: BABEFE
Properties, plant and equipment ME - BB MR 110,633
Prepaid lease payments FENHERIE 64,019
Non-current deposits IEREET S 52
Inventories Ve 858
Trade and other receivables and B 5 R H b AR R
prepayments TR RUR 7,720
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRRIRE 1,327
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAM IR (182,668)
Total consideration satisfied by cash LRSSt BRE 1,941
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WHEEA ZIREmE F5E ¢
Cash consideration paid BEfRERE (1,941)
Bank balances and cash acquired BARTHESBEE S 1,327
(614)

The subsidiary contributed a loss of ZMBARNKEE =4S A IEHRH
HK$16,385,000 to the Group’s profit for the 7B 7K &£ 8% F 75 7 16,385,000 78 JT 2 &
period between the date of acquisition and the 8o

balance sheet date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 75 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2008 &2 —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

32. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 32. KWMELT 2

(o) On 1 June 2008, the Group acquired 100% equity (o) R_ZZZTN\FA—B  KAEERA
interest in a company from an independent third —BBEIFE=FRE—FETERE
party, of which the principal activity is manufacture BUERDIEEFREAZARIZEE
and distribution of electronic raw materials, for MR - e K (E R 40,620,000 %
a cash consideration of HK$40,620,000. This TC o WIEWE LA B @ 5HETIR o
acquisition has been accounted for using the ULIEU B M A T A o
purchase method. No goodwill arise as a result of
the acquisition.

The net assets acquired in the acquisition are as WEMBAZAEFENT
follows:
Acquiree’s
carrying amount
before combination
and fair value
WUEE S S BER
ZIEEERAFE
HK$'000
FAT
Net assets acquired: BABEEE
Properties, plant and equipment M BENERE 13,428
Inventories FE 18,987
Trade and other receivables and B 5 R H M FEWER R
prepayments TEfF0E 67,815
Bank balances and cash IRITRABRRIRE 61,514
Trade and other payables 5 REMBEMAER (121,124)
Total consideration satisfied by cash LAIRE S 2 R A(E 40,620
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition: WEEEA IR RAFRE
Cash consideration paid BRERE (40,620)
Bank balances and cash acquired BARTEE RIS 61,514
20,894

The subsidiary contributed a loss of HK$2,121,000
to the Group’s profit for the period between the
date of acquisition and the balance sheet date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 B #&E R T M =T

For the year ended 31 December 2008 &2 —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

32.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 32. EHMELAT 2
(© On 1 January 2007, the Group acquired 100% () RZZEZ+FE—-F—H AEEWR
equity interest in a company of which the principal B—HETENERERYHERT
activity is manufacture and distribution of laminates Rz ARz 2HEE  ReRER
for a cash consideration of HK$72,341,000. This 72,341,000 7T © WLIEKEIAEE
acquisition had been accounted for using the SEHATIER o WA EE AR
purchase method. No goodwill arose as a result of = .
the acquisition.
The net assets acquired in the acquisition were as IWWEERTEE A 2 BEEFEWMT ¢
follows:
Acquiree’s
carrying amount
before combination
and fair value
HWUKERS RS BFR
ZIEEERAFE
HK$’000
FAT
Net assets acquired: BAEEFAE :
Properties, plant and equipment M - BB MR 8,122
Inventories FE 4,278
Trade and other receivables and B 5 R H b EWER R
prepayments TERRIR 103,462
Bank balances and cash RTINS 9,022
Trade and other payables 2 5 RHEMER R (52,543)
Total consideration satisfied by cash RSz BR(E 72,341
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WHEEA 2 IR & m L F5E ¢
Cash consideration paid BEfRERE (72,341)
Bank balances and cash acquired BASRITESR LIRS 9,022
(63,319)

The subsidiary contributed a profit of
HK$6,526,000 to the Group’s profit for the period
between the date of acquisition and 31 December
2007.

ZHBARRNBERARREE—_ZT
tF+-A=+—HBILHEAR
£ B | 5 B 6,526,000/ 7T Z &
F) o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 44 B #&E R T MIsE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2= —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

32.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 32. EBHMELAT 2
(d) On 1 April 2007, the Group acquired 51% equity @) N-TELEME—R » AEEW
interest in a company of which the principal B — R B LA TR IS R AR
activity is manufacture of specialty resins and BERT ATT51%0EE - Ber
related products, for a cash consideration of BA e — S
8 7320,643,0007 7T o 1t T8 Y g A
HK$20,643,000. This acquisition had been E;E.ﬁé “Z‘;ﬁljﬁﬁ/o ﬁlﬁuﬁzﬂﬁjzélzz
accounted for using the purchase method. The ﬁ%;” : '%, SRR
amount of goodwill arising as a result of the a7/ 2 OO
acquisition was HK$238,000.
The net assets acquired in the acquisition, and the WEMBAZAEFERMESZ
goodwill arising, were as follows: PEWT
Acquiree’s
carrying amount
before combination
and fair value
HIEA R e bR
FEHERATE
HK$'000
FAT
Net assets acquired: BABEFHE :
Properties, plant and equipment M - BB LG 37,153
Prepaid lease payments AN ERIE 2,076
Inventories FE 140
Trade and other receivables and H 5 K H AW AR
prepayments NSELNE O 1,212
Bank balances and cash IRITHEBRIIRS 363
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAM IR (934)
40,010
Minority interests DY R = (19,605)
Goodwill [EES 238
Total consideration satisfied by: ATE A AT 2 R(E :
Cash Re 20,643
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: UGB EAE 7S M ERE
Cash consideration paid BEfRERE (20,643)
Bank balances and cash acquired BARITEHRIIRS 363
(20,280)

The subsidiary contributed a profit of
HK$2,169,000 to the Group’s profit for the period
between the date of acquisition and 31 December
2007.
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2= —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

32.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 32. KEMELBE=)

(e On 1 October 2007, the Group acquired 100% () R=ZZTZ+F+A—H  ~EERK
equity interest in a company of which the B ENERE RS HERE
principal activity is manufacture and distribution Rz AT Z2HRE  ReRER
of laminates, for a cash consideration of 29,250,000/ 7T © WLIEYEEARE B
HK$29,250,000. This acquisition had been @ ESRBIER o WIBUREEI ARG
accounted for using the purchase method. No 2 o
goodwill arose as a result of the acquisition.

The net assets acquired in the acquisition were as IWWEERTEE A 2 BEEFEWMT ¢
follows:
Acquiree’s
carrying amount
before combination
and fair value
HIEA RS HRIZ
FEEERATFE
HK$’'000
FAT
Net assets acquired: BAEEFAE :
Trade and other receivables and B 5 R H b fE AR R
prepayments INSEUNE 27,921
Bank balances and cash RITERNIIRE 1,921
Trade and other payables 5 M EAEIRK (592)
Total consideration satisfied by cash URES 22 R(E 29,250
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WGEEES. 2 IR M REE -
Cash consideration paid ENESRE (29,250)
Bank balances and cash acquired BARTHESBEE S 1,921
(27,329)

The subsidiary contributed a loss of HK$1,331,000
to the Group’s profit for the period between the
date of acquisition and 31 December 2007.

ZHBARBWERSHEE ST+
+ - A=+—HIEHEARER R TR
1,331,000/ 7T 2 E1E -
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2= —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

32.

33.

34.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 32. KEMELBE=)
If the acquisitions in respect of items (a) and (b) had been fifi () 38 } (b) T8 WX BE A UK BE SE M1 52 pK + B
completed on the beginning of the year of acquisitions, A 48 5 B & ¥ %8 1§ 5 10,266,000,000 78
total group revenue for the year would have been T(ZZEZE+LF:Hi(c)E - (d)JE K(e)E
HK$10,266 million (2007: HK$10,429 million in respect = + 10,429,000,00058 7T ) * A & i 7
of items (c), (d) and (e)) and profit for that year would have # % 1,252,000,000/8 L ( Z EZE + 4
been HK$1,252 million (2007: HK$1,925 million). The 1,925,000,000/ 7T ) © #5Z & LHEHF
pro forma information is for illustrative purposes only and B AVKRRKBRFEITK  NEE
is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results of BREN SEBNKEEE IR
operations of the Group that actually would have been BRI A 7 FEA o
achieved had the acquisitions been completed at the
beginning of the year, nor is intended to be a projection of
future results.
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 33. BEKiE
2008 2007
—EENE T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TFHT FAT
Capital expenditure contracted for but ~ FLEEE W - HE M
not provided in the consolidated HREMEETL
financial statements for the BARERE BT
acquisition of properties, plant WMERIELEE 2
and equipment BEARAR 132,670 141,932
OPERATING LEASES 34. EEHEH
2008 2007
—EENF T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TH#T FAT
The Group as lessee: AEBEREMEA :
Minimum lease payments charged to ARG A a5k
the consolidated income statements Bk 2 AR A
during the year (NES
— for premises S/ 3,794 1,246
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 &t —FEZE N\ F+_—-H=+—HI F/F

B IR MR

34. OPERATING LEASES (continued) 34. EEHWN 2
Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by KERNNRAREEGE THAEYE
the Group for certain of its office properties and all lease ENZHEE - FTERANRZEEEY AR
payments are fixed and predetermined. ENRFEFEE °
At the balance sheet date, the Group’s future lease REER  AEBERBETTRE &L
payments under non-cancellable operating leases are ONNIEEES-R N i FORNE/ =N NI 1 Ba
payable as follows: i -
2008 2007
ZBEBNF —TELEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Within one year —FR 520 646
After one year but not later than —EBERRAER
five years 1,816 1,791
After five years AFE 17,549 16,631
19,885 19,068
The Group as lessor: REBEERTEHEA
2008 2007
—EENF T F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THT FAT
Rental income credited to the FRFFAGZEWREERZ
consolidated income statement WA (B
during the year, net of outgoing amount 37 §5#47 /243,000 7T
of approximately HK$243,000 (T L5
(2007: HK$157,000) 157,000%7T) ) 11,904 7,581
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2 —EZ )\F+ - H=1+—HIFF/Z

34.

35.

OPERATING LEASES (continued) 34. EEHWN =)
The Group’s investment properties are rented to ANEB I EYENIRTBEREE T 2T
outside parties for periods up to seven years at fixed SHETIFAL - HEKRALE - N
predetermined amounts. At the balance sheet date, HAH AEBERBEFIIMNAL  BRET
the Group had contracted with tenants to receive the Al RS 2 A A B B WE 2 K
following future minimum lease payments under non- TR
cancellable operating leases:
2008 2007
—EENF —ETLEF
HK$°000 HK$’000
THT T
Within one year —FR 7,390 7,496
After one year but not later than —FRBERAFR
five years 12,227 15,967
After five years fF1% 1,565 2,098
21,182 25,561
RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME 35. BAEFIEHE

The Group participates in both a defined contribution
scheme which was registered under the Occupational
Retirement Scheme Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”)
and a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme which was
established under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Ordinance in December 2000 (the “MPF Scheme”). The
assets of the schemes are held separately from those of
the Group and are invested in funds under the control of
independent trustees. Employees who were members of
the ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment of the MPF
Scheme are members of both the ORSO Scheme and
the MPF Scheme, whereas all new employees joining the
Group on or after December 2000 are required to join the
MPF Scheme.
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35.

36.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME (continued) 35. BRHkiaFIstsl &)
Employees of subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the FENBARZIEE ATBRBNEEZ
state-sponsored pension schemes operated by the PRC KEBRIRTEIKE - ZEWMBRARER
government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a HeXHZzE B RARKEE - L
certain percentage of their payroll to the pension schemes YHEBE -  NEBREKRTEIBITZ
to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with W—EEAYNEAEMRR -
respect to the pension schemes is to make the required
contributions.
Payments to the ORSO Scheme, the MPF Scheme and FBEERNRTE BB EIRERER
the state-sponsored pension schemes of approximately RRET 2~ 2 i F 4 A 8,583,0007% 7T
HK$8,583,000 (2007: HK$7,501,000) had been charged (ZZZT+4 : 7,501,00087T) ' D EEE
to the consolidated income statement. W ES R AR -
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. RAEALTEZS
The Group entered into the following significant AREFEHBEBEATEFRNETZIERARS
transactions with related parties during the year: W
2008 2007
—ETN\F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FERT FAT
() Sales of goods and drilling () BIEES =G
services provided to fellow HEEm
subsidiaries TRt L AR 5 2,302,441 2,082,382
(i) Purchase of goods from (i) EIEEA)EEPNG
fellow subsidiaries HEE D 276,287 165,109
(i)  Rental expenses paid to (i) — FRRKMERF
fellow subsidiaries SANE A 2,122 -
(v)  Rental income received from vy RRRKERF
fellow subsidiaries WER A & A 396 528
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2= —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of Directors and other members of key
management during the year is as follows:

36.

MEANLES )

FTEEEASHE
FRN - EFREMFEETREABZHEA
I

2008 2007

—ET)N\F BT

HK$’000 HK$’000

T#T FiBT

Short-term benefits HIE A 57,658 74,404
Post-employment benefits RIKIEAEF 562 519
58,220 74,923

The remuneration of Directors and key executives
is determined with reference to the performance of
individuals and market trends.
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37.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 37.

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2007 and 2008 are as follows:

FLAFERMBLATZFT

R-BBLER-FENF+_A=t—
A AARAEEWEAAZHBENT -

Place of Issued and Proportion of
incorporation/ fully paid the ownership
registration share capital/ interest held
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital by the Group Principal activities
M/ BETREE FEAEAEE
MELE &R BRREEHY k% /ithas RREERLA FERH
2008 2007
ZEE\E —TTLE
% %
Chung (Taicang) Insulated PRC 1US$3,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
Material Co., Ltd. R 3,000,000 of bleached kraft paper
BE (RB) BEHHERAA &R HRAARA
Excel First Investments Limited British Virgin USS$1 100 100 Investment holding
BERERBAR Islands* E3 REER
ARRAEE
Fogang Kingboard Industry Ltd. PRC! RMB878,100,000 63.66 62.15  Manufacture and distribution
FRREERERAR Gl AR878,100,0007 of copper fol
SER DA
Guangzhou Chung Shun PRC US$44,595,000 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
Century Fibre Glass Co., Ltd. M 44,595,000 T of glass yam
BN EEERAERAT RER HREY
Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Bermuda# US$72,250,000 63.66 62.15  Investment holding
Limited BRE 72,250,000%7C REAR
Kingboard (Fogang) Insulated PRC! US$7,615,000 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
Material Company Limited B 7,615,000% 7 of bleached kraft paper

BE () BEMHARLE

RERDHROAFH
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37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 37.

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

e S 0] PUESD 1

Place of Issued and Proportion of
incorporation/ fully paid the ownership
registration share capital/ interest held
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital by the Group Principal activities
HmaL/ BRETREHE FREFER
MELEER BRREEHN k% /itfas RAEERLEH TERE
2008 2007
=
% %
Kingboard (Fogang) Laminates PRC! US$29,466,000 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
Co. Limited HE 29,466,000%7T of laminates
BE (M) BERERAR RER7 HERER
Kingboard (Fogang) Paper PRC! US$17,936,546 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
Laminates Co. Ltd. i 17,936,546% T of laminates
B (fR) BEARERAA BERD HRAER
Kingboard Electronic Raw PRC US$25,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
Material (Jiang Yin) Co., Ltd. B 25,000,000%7 of laminates
BEETHH (IR) BRAR BER 7 HERER
Kingboard Laminates (Jiangmen) PRC! HK$189,491,052 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
Co., Ltd. FE! 189,491,052/ 7T of laminates
IFRERERERAT RER7 HERER
Kingboard (Jiangsu) Chemical PRC! US$28,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
Co., Ltd. e 28,000,000% 7T of chemicals
2B (I%) LIRRAR RERDE IEM
Kingboard Laminates (Kunshan) PRC US$32,010,000 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
Co., Ltd. HE 32,010,000% T of laminates
ZERER (BWl) BRAF BER 7 HERER
Kingboard (Lian Zhou) Fibre PRC! US$13,700,000 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
Glass Co. Limited FE! 13,700,000% T of glass fabric
2 (M) ZREEERAA RERD HRRA SR

1 26 Annual Report 2008 Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited
ZZ)\FFR ZEEERERERAR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 75 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2008 & 2= —EZ )\F+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

37.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 37. FAFTEMBATZEE 2

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Place of Issued and Proportion of
incorporation/ fully paid the ownership
registration share capital/ interest held
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital by the Group Principal activities
M/ BETREE FEAEAEE
IR BRREEHY k% /ithas RAEERLA FERH
2008 2007
ZEE\E —TTLE
% %
Kingboard (Lian Zhou) Copper PRC" US$64,000,000 63.66 62.15  Manufacture and distribution
Foil Limited e 64,000,000% 7T of copper ol
B (M) WAEERAR SUER DR
Kingboard (Panyu Nansha) PRC RMB250,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
Pstrochemical Company Limited ! AR #250,000,0007T of chemicals
2E (BBMY) AltERAA BERDH I EM
Kunshan Yattao Chemical Co., Ltd. PRC" US$12,500,000 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
EILBECIBRAR el 12,500,000% 7 of laminates
SERHHEERAR
Qing Yuan Chung Shun Gentury PRC US$45,319,600 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
Fibre Glass Co., Limited i 45,319,600% T of glass yam
BRAGHERAERAR BERDHERY
# These are investment holding companies which have no specific # WEARTIREZER AR WESEEE

principal place of operations.

1 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of
Wholly Foreign-owned Enterprises.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected
the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result
in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at
the end of the year.

BB, o

L WERRAINEBEREZ A EREK

N o

EXRFIAEERRIBREAEEER
BABEZARAINBLRR - EFRA
FIHEMH B AR ZFHIFEBNILE

E M B R BN F AR SEBEITEMER
55 o
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Financial Summary

BB E

RESULTS E ¥ |

Year ended 31 December
H#E+-A=t—HLEE
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
—ETEME  ZETRE ZETRE ZZTE ZBEBIE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THT TR THT FET

Revenue e 4,660,178 6,131,169 8,472,422 10,426,783 10,127,764
Profit before taxation BB AT 1,140,257 1,233,100 1,887,260 2,054,835 1,321,136
Income tax expense PSS (60,699) (91,030) (145,849) (129,226) (70,466)
Profit for the year REERF 1,079,558 1,142,070 1,741,411 1,925,609 1,250,670
Attributable to: EL1D%E

Equity holders of the Vi/NG] L 3

Company BAEA 1,036,737 1,078,235 1,638,134 1,813,269 1,203,804
Minority interests DR RS 42,821 63,835 103,277 112,340 46,866

1,079,558 1,142,070 1,741,411 1,925,609 1,250,670

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HERAR

At 31 December

®+=-A=+—H
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
—TETmE  ZETRE TR ZTTtE  ZBENE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT TET

Total assets BEBE 11,096,383 13,241,970 10245880 12,531,209 12,804,358
Total liabilities afEps (7,035,600)  (8,193,749)  (4,606,776)  (4,936,803)  (4,646,213)
Net assets BEEE 4,060,783 5,048,221 5639,104  7,594406 8,158,145

Equity attributable to equity ARAER

holders of the Company HEAEGRER 3,509,232 4,447,876 4,938,168 6,739,745 17,268,942
Minority interests DERRER 551,551 600,345 700,936 854,661 889,203
Total equity BRER 4,060,783 5,048,221 5,639,104 7,594,406 8,158,145

The summary of results, assets and liabilities for the two years BEZTERF T A=T—HILMEFE
ended 31 December 2005 which were extracted from the ZEBENEEMABERE e AR RN
Company’s prospectus dated 24 November 2006, have been —EERF+—A-tTHAHERIBEES
prepared on a combined basis as if the group structure, at the 72 WA HEERES . BN A TR AR
time when the Company’s shares were listed on the main board B AT F R AR TS MR A R
of the Stock Exchange had been in existence throughout those RS — B 1S7E °

years.

1 28 Annual Report 2008 Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited
—TE)\FEH BEBRERERERAR



]‘Kroiﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ}gﬂﬁﬁmﬁﬁl

fP\f Q KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

2/F, Harbour View 1, No.12 Science Park East Avenue, Phase 2 Hong Kong Science Park, Shatin, N.T., H.K.
AN HE BN SR EMRR B R 125V B IE1 2218

Tel B3 : (852) 26056493  Fax EHE : (852) 2691 5245

E-mail EE : enquiry@kingboard.com  Web site #331t : http://www.kblaminates.com



	封面
	目錄
	公司資料
	財務摘要
	主席報告
	董事及高級管理人員之資歷
	董事會報告
	企業管治報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合收益表
	綜合資產負債表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	綜合財務報表附註
	財務概要
	封底

